



INSTRUCTION REPORT S-77-1

PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF CBR DESIGN CURVES

Ьу

A. Taboza Pereira

Soils and Pavements Laboratory U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station P. O. Box 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180

June 1977 Final Report Supersedes WES Instruction Report 4, dated November 1959 Approved For Public Release; Distribution Unlimited





Prepared for Office, Chief of Engineers, U. S. Army Washington, D. C. 20314

> Under Project 4A762719AT40 Task A2, Work Unit 001

Best Available Copy



Destroy this report when no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.

Best Available Copy

Unclassified SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data Entered) READ INSTRUCTIONS **REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE** BEFORE COMPLETING FORM REPORT NUMBER ACCIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER 2. GOVT ACCESSION NO. 3. Instruction Broom-S-77-1 TITLE (and Substates CONTRACTOR OF THE NUMBER OF Final repert. PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF CBR DESIGN CURVES. - PERFORMING ORG, REPORT NUMBER Tilar 022 7. AUTHORA A. Taboza Pereira PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS I. TASK PROGRA ENT, PROJEC U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station Project 4A762719AT40 Soils and Pavements Laboratory P. O. Box 631, Vicksburg, Miss. Task A2, Work Unit 001 39180 11. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS -----Office, Chief of Engineers, U. S. Army June 1977 Washington, D. C. 20314 NUMBER OF FAGE 89 14. MONITOPING AGENCY NAME & AUDRESS(II different from a ontrolling Office) 15. SECURITY CLASS. (OT Unclassified 15a. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE 16. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimited. 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebstract entered in Block 20, 11 different from Report) 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Supersedes WES Instruction Report 4, "Developing a Set of CBR Design Curves," November 1959. 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block number) California Bearing Ratio Flexible pavements Pavement design Pavements 20. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block number) The pattern of design relations for flexible pavements was established and reported in WES Instruction Report 4. This pattern has been modified in recent years and new relations established. This report presents the current procedure: for determining flexible pavement thickness requirements. The CBR-thickness relationship can be portrayed by an equation or by a combined CBR curve. This report shows how, by use of equivalent single-wheel (Continued) DD FORM 1473 EDITION OF I NOV 65 IS OBSOLETE Unclassified SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data Entered) **Best Available Copy** 138100

-	Unclas	ssified	<u>1</u>	
ECURITY	CLASSIFICATION	OF THIS	PAGE(When Date)	Entered)

[20. ABSTRACT (Continued).

ŀ

V Praifing a

loads, the single-wheel design criteria can be applied to any multiple-wheel configuration. Means are also presented for developing either single-wheel or multiple-wheel design criteria for various levels of usage based on load repetitions. A detailed example demonstrating equivalent single-wheel load determinations, pass-per-coverage relationships, and thickness requirements is presented.

> Unclassified SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS FAGE (When Deta Entered)

> > • •

Sec. Margaret Contraction

÷

manate strange a Stational

PREFACE

The investigation reported herein was sponsored by the Office, Chief of Engineers (OCE), U. S. Army, as a part of Project 4A762719AT40, Task A2, Work Unit OOL, "Construction Design Technology Base." OCE Technical Monitor for this investigation was Mr. A. F. Muller (DAEN-MCE-D).

The investigation was conducted during the period March 1976 to March 1977 at the U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station (WES) by personnel of the Soils and Pavements Laboratory (S&PL) under the general supervision of Messrs. J. P. Sale and R. G. Ahlvin, Chief and Assistant Chief of the S&PL, respectively. Personnel engaged in preparation of this report were MAJ A. Taboza Pereira, an exchange officer from Brazil, and Messrs. D. M. Ladd, Chief, Design Criteria Branch, and H. R. Austin, Mathematician. This report was written by MAJ Pereira.

Director of WES during the conduct of this investigation and the preparation of this report was COL J. L. Cannon, CE. Technical Director was Mr. F. R. Brown.

ACCESSION for	
NTIS DDC UNANNOUNCED JUSTIFICATION	While Soction D Buff Section
BY Distribution/av	MIT / CORES
DI	SP CIAL
A	

CONTENTS

ra,	<u>(</u> e
PREFACE	1
CONVERSION FACTORS, U. S. CUSTOMARY TO METRIC (SI) UNITS OF MEASUREMENT	3
PART I: INTRODUCTION	4
Purpose and Scope	4
	• 6
General	6
Lateral Distribution of Traffic	6
PART III: EFFECT OF WHEEL LOADS ON PAVEMENTS	8
Deflections in Pavements for ESWL Determinations 24 Single-Wheel Load 33 Multiple-Wheel Load 33 Computation of ESWL 33 Example of ESWL Computation 33	8 1 2 56
PART IV: CONSTRUCTION OF CBR DESIGN CURVES	0
CBR Equation	0 5
PART V: COMPLETE EXAMPLE OF THE CONSTRUCTION OF CBR DESIGN CURVES FOR AIRFIELDS	6
Introduction	6 6
REFERENCES	6
TABLES 1-21	
APPENDIX A: COMPUTER DETERMINATION OF CBR/THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS	1
Input Guide	3456

CONVERSION FACTORS, U. S. CUSTOMARY TO METRIC (SI) UNITS OF MEASUREMENT

U. S. customary units of measurement used in this report can be converted to metric (SI) units as follows:

Multiply	By	<u> </u>
inches	25.4	millimetres
feet	0.3048	metres
square inches	6.4516	square centimetres
pounds (mass)	0.4535924	kilograms
kips (mass)	453.5924	kilograms
pounds (force) per square inch	6894.757	pascals

3

and the second second second

PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF CBR DESIGN CURVES

PART I: INTRODUCTION

Purpose and Scope

1. Significant changes in the procedure for developing CBR (California Bearing Ratio) design curves have occurred in the past few years. The objective of this report, therefore, is to present a description of the current Corps of Engineers (CE) methodology for construction of flexible pavement design curves. This report represents an update of U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station (WES) Instruction Report 4, "Developing a Set of CBR Design Curves," dated November 1959.¹ Procedures for computation of pass-per-coverage ratio by statistical methods are described. Also, procedures and tables for computation of deflections and equivalent single-wheel loads (ESWL) for any value of Poisson's ratio are presented, although the CE uses 0.5 for all calculations. This report was prepared to familiarize engineers with the theories and techniques for the construction of flexible pavement design curves.

Background

2. The CBR method has been used since the early 1940's in airfield pavement design.¹⁻⁴ This method has been improved repeatedly as the result of continuous research and field observations through the years. The method may be considered semiempirical, since it was developed using concepts and mathematical developments of the elastic theory, together with data taken from test sections and airfields under prototype aircraft traffic.

3. In computing pavement thickness through the CBR design method, the following data must be known: volume of traffic, load, type of design aircraft, and soil strength. These parameters account for the

magnitude and distribution of load, as well as the frequency with which the pavement and the subgrade have to undergo stresses. The soil strength, represented by the CBR, indicates the ability of a soil to withstand wheel loads. CBR is not a direct measurement of the soil bearing capacity, but is an index of the soil strength determined by comparison with a standard value.

4. The CBR design method for flexible pavements was conceived initially by the California Highway Department to compute pavement thickness for single-wheel loads on highways. The method was then adapted by the CE for airfield design. Following the development of larger aircraft, the method was adapted for multiple-wheel loads^{5,4} by studying the effect of uniform circular loads acting on a homogeneous, isotropic, and elastic half space, through use of the classical Boussinesq theory.

「日本にない」というないのに

5. Results of extensive tests on full-scale test sections trafficked with multiple-wheel heavy gear loads, in conjunction with statistical studies of the traffic behavior on airfields, have recently led to important improvements in this design method. A new procedure was developed to deal with the effect of lateral distribution of traffic on runways and taxiways, and consequently an improved method was found to relate the number of operations of an aircraft to the number of design stress applications to the pavement (passes per coverage ratio). Also, the effect of multiple wheels on pavements was restudied and a relationship was established between the number of wheels on the main assembly and the effect of stress repetitions (load repetitions factor) on thickness. The overall result of these developments on pavement design was to reduce the required flexible pavement thicknesses for a given loading condition.

General

6. Traffic is one of the primary parameters affecting airfield pavement design. Airfields are usually designed for a given number of passes of a specific aircraft having definite characteristics. The number of passes of the design aircraft is directly related to the number of times the pavement is subjected to the maximum stress and, consequently, defines the pavement life. In this part of the report, the relationship between the number of passes of the design aircraft and the number of stress applications to the pavement will be mathematically defined, and the manner in which this relationship affects the pavement design will be discussed.

Lateral Distribution of Traffic

Theoretical considerations

7. Usually, runway and taxiway center lines are marked as a reference for pilots. As a consequence, the traffic tends to be channelized, with the highest concentration in the vicinity of the center lines. Theoretically, the probability of running on the right or left side of the geometric center line in any single use of the airfield facility is fifty percent for each side. Therefore, for a small number of passes, the traffic may be considered to follow the pattern of a binomial distribution or discrete probability distribution,[#] and tends to the normal or Gaussian distribution as the traffic increases. (*Note: The binomial distribution, also called Bernoulli distribution or discrete probability distribution, is given by the expressions

$$\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{N}^{\mathsf{C}_{\mathbf{x}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{X}}\mathbf{q}}(\mathbf{N}-\mathbf{x})$$

and

$$N^{C} \mathbf{x} = \frac{N!}{\mathbf{x}! (N-\mathbf{x})!}$$

where

x = the number of times an event will probably happen in N trials

- p = the probability that an event will happen in any single trial
- q = the probability that an event will fail to happen in any single trial

Example: In 6 takeoffs, the probability that an aircraft will run 2 times on the left side of a runway center line is

$$p(2) = {}_{6}C_{2}(\frac{1}{2})^{2}(\frac{1}{2})^{6-2} = \frac{6!}{2!4!} \times (\frac{1}{2})^{6} = 0.23$$

As the number of trials increases, and if p or q is not close to zero, the discrete probability distribution approaches the normal distribution and, in the limiting case, when N tends to infinity, the approximation is exact.⁷)

8. Since airfields are designed to sustain a very large number of passes, the traffic may be considered laterally distributed in the shape of a normal curve. Actual traffic data, taken from observations at several military airfields, show agreement with this theory.⁶ Figure 1 presents a comparison between theoretical and actual distribution curves based on observations of the behavior of aircraft at three Air Force bases.

General normal distribution and standard normal distribution curves

9. According to References 7 and 8, the general normal distribution (GND) curve or Gaussian curve is defined by the equation:

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\sigma_x \sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma_x}\right)^2}$$
(1)

and the strength of the streng

where x is a variable with a continuous set of values, σ_{χ} is the standard deviation of x, μ is the mean of the x values, and f(x) is the frequency with which the x events can happen.



ţ

Ś

Percent of Observations + 100

and the second

ر د ب⁴⁴ د ماله مر

Č. .

Figure 1. Distribution of B-47 and KC-97 aircraft traffic along straightways of taxiway

(from Reference 6)

.



Figure 2. General normal distribution (GND) curve

10. If the deviations from the mean are measured in units of standard deviations (see Figure 2), this relationship can be expressed by

$$z = \frac{x - \mu}{\sigma_x}$$
(2)

and Equation 1 is replaced by the expression

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\sigma_x \sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}z^2}$$
 (3)

or simply by

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}} \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{z}) \tag{4}$$

The equation of f(z) is

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{\sigma_z \sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{1}{2} z^2}$$
 (5)

.

di de celeva

But the values of z are measured in units of standard deviations; therefore, σ_z equals one, and Equation 5 may be written as follows:

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{1}{2} z^2}$$
(6)

In this case, z is called a standardized variable and is a dimensionless quantity. The deviations from the mean are said to be expressed in standard units; the standard deviation equals one and the mean equals zero. Equation 6 represents the standard normal distribution (SND) curve as illustrated in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Standard normal distribution (SND) curve Some properties of the SND curve are tabulated in statistics books.^{7,8} For example: (a) For z equal to zero, the maximum ordinate [f(z)]equals 0.3989. For z equal to 3.99, f(z) equals 0.0001. The minimum ordinate corresponds to the limiting case, when z tends to infinity. (b) For z equal to zero, the area under the curve equals zero. For z equal to 3.99, the area under the curve equals 0.5000.

11. Ordinates and areas under the curve can be taken from tables for any value of z, from 0.00 to 3.99. Due to the symmetry of the SND curve, the ordinate values are the same for the corresponding negative abscissas.

12. The data in Table 1 for the SND curve can be used in the application of the normal curve to the aircraft traffic study.

Application of the GND and SND curves to aircraft traffic

13. The distribution of aircraft traffic on runways and taxiways

may be represented by a GND curve, where the ordinate represents the frequency of the passes of the aircraft center line at a certain distance from the pavement center line. This distance from the center line is plotted as the abscissa using conventional methods.

14. Obviously, the same curve also represents the transverse variation in the placement of the aircraft tires on the pavement. This concept permits the presentation of two important definitions: wander and coverage.

- <u>a.</u> <u>Wander</u> is defined in Reference 6 as "the width over which the center line of aircraft traffic is distributed 75 percent of the time." Based on previous considerations, the same concept may be extended to the center line of one tire. Currently, a wander width of 70 in.* is used for taxiways and the first 1000 ft of each runway end. A wander width of 140 in. is used for the runway interior. These values are based on actual traffic observations.⁶
- <u>b.</u> <u>Coverage</u> is defined as the application of the maximum stress on a point in a pavement surface. Therefore, when a pavement is designed for a particular wheel load, one coverage is being applied to a point on the pavement each time this wheel load passes over that point. To illustrate this concept with an example, assume a pavement will be subjected to the traffic of a single-wheel load with tire width W_t . This pavement is divided transversely in strips, so that one tire pass on a strip corresponds to one coverage on that strip. Assume the traffic is applied according to the pattern shown in Figure 4, so that in 100 passes the tire runs on the center strip 16 times. In this situation, it can be said that 16 coverages have been applied to the pavement and the ratio between the number of coverages and the total number of passes is

$$\frac{C}{P} = \frac{16}{100} = 0.16$$

or

C = 0.16P

* A table of factors for converting U. S. customary units of measurement to metric (SI) units is presented on page 3.





Based on this example, it can be concluded that every time one tire passes on a strip, one coverage is being applied to that strip, and the number of coverages on the pavement computed for design purposes would be the number of coverages applied to that strip where the maximum accumulation occurs.

15. Now, assume that Figure 5 represents the traffic distribution on a taxiway. The ordinates, f(x), represent the frequency of the passes at a point x, or the ratio between the number of passes p(x)of a tire center line at a point and the total number of passes P on the taxiway. Then

$$f(x) = \frac{p(x)}{P}$$
(7)

or

のうちょうないない ないない たいでき いいちょう いいちょう いいちょう おおおいちょう

$$\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}) \times \mathbf{P} \tag{8}$$

If f(x) is replaced by its value in Equation 4,



Figure 5. Theoretical normal distribution of aircraft traffic on taxiway

$$p(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{\sigma_{\mathbf{x}}} f(\mathbf{z}) P \tag{9}$$

16. The value of p(x) is given in passes per measurement unit. If the value of x is measured in inches, σ_x will be in inches and p(x) will correspond to passes per inch.

17. Now, a new curve can be drawn (Figure 6) with the same shape as the curve in Figure 5 where the ordinates represent the number of passes per inch of the tire center line at a particular distance from the mean value. Therefore, at a distance equal to zero, the number of passes is represented by

$$\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{x}_{n}) = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_{n})\mathbf{P} \tag{10}$$

 \mathbf{r}



LATERAL PLACEMENT OF AIRCRAFT CENTER LINE OR TIRE CENTER LINE

Figure 6. Traffic distribution in passes per measurement unit

$$p(x_{o}) = \frac{1}{\sigma_{x}} f(z_{o})P \qquad (11)$$

18. If the tire width is W_t (Figure 6), then the tire applies coverages on the point x = 0 at every position of its own center line within the interval

$$-\frac{W_t}{2} \leq x \leq \frac{W_t}{2}$$

So, the number of coverages applied by one tire on the point x = 0 is given by the expression

$$C = \int_{-W_{t}/2}^{W_{t}/2} p(x) dx \qquad (12)$$

or simply

$$C = p(x_{o})W_{t}$$
(13)

Replacing $p(x_{c_i})$ by its value in Equations 10 and 11, then

$$\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{A}}) \mathbf{PW}_{\mathbf{b}}$$
(14)

anđ

$$C = \frac{1}{\sigma_{x}} f(z_{o}) PW_{t}$$
 (15)

where C is the number of coverages applied by one tire, $f(z_0)$ is the maximum ordinate of the SND curve, W_t is the tire width, and P is the total number of tire passes. The computation of σ_x may be done by use of Equation 2, as follows:

$$z = \frac{x - \mu}{\sigma_x}$$
 or $\sigma_x = \frac{x - \mu}{z}$

By definition, for a wander width of 70 in., 75 percent of the passes (or 75 percent of the GND curve area) lie in the interval between x = -35 in. and x = 35 in. (see Figure 6). From Table 1, 75 percent of the SND curve lies in the interval between z = -1.15 and z = 1.15(see Figure 7), and the maximum ordinate for z = 0 is $f(z_0) = 0.3989$. So for this particular situation,

$$\mu = 0$$
, $x = 35$, and $z = 1.15$

and finally

$$\sigma_{\rm x} = \frac{35 - 0}{1.15} = 30.43 \text{ in.}$$
 (16)



Figure 7. SND curve, as related to aircraft traffic distribution

19. For a wander width of 140 in., 75 percent of the GND curve lies between the values x = -70 and x = 70 in. Computing through the same procedure, the σ_x value will be:

$$v_{\rm x} = \frac{70 - 0}{1.15} = 60.87$$
 in. (17)

Pass-per-coverage ratio for single-wheel aircraft

20. When the tread* on a single-wheel aircraft is large, the GND curve of one tire does not influence the GND curve of the other (Figure 8), and the maximum ordinate $p(x_0)$ for the aircraft as a whole is the same as that for one wheel. According to Reference 6, this happens when the tread equals 100 in. or more for a wander equal to 70 in., or when the tread equals 200 in. or more for a wander equal to 140 in. In this case, the computation of the number of coverages C

* Distance between the center lines of the main gears.



LATERAL PLACEMENT OF WHEEL CENTER LINE, IN.

Figure 8. Typical GND curve for nonoverlapping tire prints applied by a given number of passes P of a single-wheel aircraft on an airfield facility can be accomplished by use of Equation 15 for any value of wander.

21. The number of coverages is computed as follows for the two values of wander usually considered in airfield pavement design. For a wander of 70 in., $\sigma_{\rm x} = 30.43$ in. and the number of coverages is

$$C = \frac{0.3989}{30.43} W_t P = 0.0131 W_t P^*$$
(18)

and the second second

Same and the second strategies of the latter

* When W_t is not known, the following equation may be used: $W_t = 0.878 \sqrt{\text{Tire contact area}}$ For a wander of 140 in., $\sigma_x = 60.87$ in. and the number of coverages is

$$C = \frac{0.3989}{60.87} W_t P = 0.0065 W_t P$$
(19)

The pass-per-coverage ratio can also be obtained from Equations 18 and 19. For a wander of 70 in., the ratio is

$$\frac{P}{C} = \frac{1}{0.0131 W_{t}} = \frac{76.34}{W_{t}}$$
(20)

For a wander of 140 in., the ratio is

$$\frac{P}{C} = \frac{1}{0.0065 W_{t}} = \frac{153.84}{W_{t}}$$
(21)

22. Single-wheel aircraft whose tread is smaller than the values presented in paragraph 20 must be treated in the same manner as for a multiple-wheel gear.

Pass-per-coverage ratio for multiple-wheel gear aircraft

23. In computing the number of coverages applied by passes of a multiple-wheel aircraft on an airfield facility, all the wheels on the main gears, as well as their arrangements, must be considered. Usually there is overlap among the GND curves of the several tires in the same assembly.

24. Figure 9 shows an example of a GND curve for overlapping tire prints of a twin-wheel aircraft. The solid lines represent the individual GND curves and the dashed lines represent the combined effect of two wheels. When the tread is small, the effects of two gears could influence each other.

25. In studying the combined effect of the wheels on a multiplewheel gear aircraft, the individual curves can be drawn and the ordinates added graphically in the overlapping areas, and the maximum ordinate of the cumulative curve obtained.

18

A Strange Mary and Art Strange



LATERAL PLACEMENT OF WHEEL CENTER LINE, IN.

Figure 9. GND curve for overlapping tire prints, twin wheels

26. As a practical rule, for multiple-wheel gears and a wander of 70 in., the assemblies will not overlap each other when the distance between the center lines of the inside wheels (tread minus twin-wheel spacing, for the case of twin gears) is equal to 100 in. or more. When the wander width is 140 in., no overlapping of the gear is considered if the distance between the center line of the inside wheels of a multiple-wheel gear is 200 in. or more.⁶

27. For tandem wheels which track each other, the maximum ordinate of the cumulative curve equals two times the maximum ordinate of an individual curve, or $f(x_{oc}) = 2f(x_{o})$.

19

28. The maximum ordinate of the cumulative curve $f(x_{oc})$ for any two wheels may be obtained from Figure 10. Wheel arrangements that do not follow the pattern of single, twin, and twin-tandem must have the maximum ordinates of their cumulative curves determined from their combined distribution curves.

29. Figure 11 shows the wheel configurations for typical aircraft landing gears.

30. The computation of the number of coverages C applied by a given number of passes of a multiple-wheel aircraft on a pavement can be made by use of Equation 14 for any value of wander by replacing $f(x_{o})$ by the value $f(x_{oc})$ taken from the cumulative curve. So,



$$C = f(x_{oc}) PW_{t}$$
 (22)

e de ser en anger par

Figure 10. Maximum ordinate on cumulative traffic distribution curve for two wheels versus wheel spacing, for wander of 70 in. and 140 in. (from Reference 6)



the second s

21

ň tr

y linina l

31. The individual curves that yield the cumulative curve are computed by relating them to the SND curve through Equation 4. The pass-per-coverage ratio is then given by the expression:

$$\frac{P}{C} = \frac{1}{f(x_{oc}) W_{t}}$$
(23)

Practical example of pass-percoverage ratio computation

32. Compute the pass-per-coverage ratio for the Boeing 707-100 aircraft on a taxiway. Aircraft data⁶ are as follows:

Wheel arrangement: twin-tandem tricycle

Tire width $(W_t) = 13.5$ in.

Tread $(T_{W}) = 265.0$ in.

Twin-wheel spacing $(S_{\pm}) = 34.0$ in.

Tandem-wheel spacing = 56.0 in.

33. On a taxiway, the wander width is 70 in. The pass-percoverage ratio is given by Equation 23 as follows:

$$\frac{P}{C} = \frac{1}{f(x_{oc}) W_{t}}$$

The ordinates of a GND curve for one wheel are given by Equation 4:

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\sigma_x} f(z)$$

where $\sigma_x = 30.43$ in. (for a wander of 70 in.) and f(z) may be taken from Table 1. Taking several values of z, the computations may be done as in the following tabulation, for construction of the GND curve shown in Figure 12.

z	f(z)	$x = \sigma z$, in,	<u>f(x)</u>
0.00	0.3989	0.0	2.0131
0.20	0.3910	6.1	0.0128
0.50	0.3521	15.2	0.0116
1.00	0.2420	30.4	0.0080
1.50	0.1295	45.6	0.0042
2.00	0.0540	60.9	0.0018

22

a na ann



Figure 12. GND curve for the Boeing 707-100

The solid lines in Figure 12 represent the GND curves for individual wheels and the dashed line represents the cumulative curve for the front or rear twin wheels. So, the $f(x_{OC})$ value for one gear is 2×0.0227 = 0.0454. Since the wander is 70 in. and the distance between the center lines of the inside wheels $(T_W - S_t)$ is greater than 100 in., the cumulative curves of the two twin-tandem gears do not overlap. Therefore, the maximum ordinate for the Boeing 707-100 is the same as for one gear. The value of the maximum ordinate of the Boeing 707-100 GND curve could also be taken from Figure 10. Using the maximum ordinate

as determined above, the pass-per-coverage ratio can be computed using Equation 23.

$$\frac{P}{C} = \frac{1}{0.0454 \times 13.5} = 1.63$$

Effect of Load Repetitions

 3^{1} . The design thickness of a pavement layer can be represented by the expression

$$t = \alpha T \tag{24}$$

where T is a standard thickness for a particular aircraft and α is a factor that adjusts the thickness according to the number of operations or repetitions of that aircraft anticipated during the pavement life. The number of operations or passes is converted to coverages through the procedure previously discussed.

35. In the past, the load repetitions factor, α , was considered to depend only upon the number of coverages (C) and was expressed as

$$\alpha = 0.23 \log C + 0.15$$
 (25)

This factor could be represented by a straight line on a semilog plot¹ (as shown in Figure 13). In the above equation, if C equals 5000 coverages, the α value equals one. So, according to that procedure, for 5000 coverages the design thickness is equal to the standard thickness for a particular aircraft regardless of the type of landing gear assembly.

36. Recently, extensive experiments conducted at WES determined the load repetitions factor to be dependent on the number of coverages and the number of wheels on the main landing gear assemblies.^{9,10} The curves plotted in Figure 14, based on results obtained in full-scale

0000001 Ē TTTT 10,000 1111 000 IIIII Ē COVERAGES 4=0.23106 C+0.15 - 8 Innt LIM 2 E -- 00'1 0.80-040 0.20-- 021 0.60 -0 LOAD REPETITIONS FACTOR, &

Server Billings

P 1

Land States

5

Figure 13. Load repetitions factor versus coverages

11/24

and the second second



i,

Tine A



1999) - 116 m

test sections, show no great differences among the α values at low coverage levels. But, for large coverage levels, the difference cannot be neglected. Therefore, to use Equation 24, the α value must be taken from Figure 14 based on the anticipated number of coverages and the number of tires used to compute the ESWL. The number of tires used to compute the ESWL is that combination of tires which gives the greatest ESWL (ESWL will be discussed in Part III).

or liste

PART III: EFFECT OF WHEEL LOADS ON PAVEMENTS

Deflections in Pavements for ESWL Determinations

37. In computing elastic deflections in pavements, the CE uses mathematical expressions based on Boussinesq's one-layer theory. The pavement and the subgrade together are considered as a semi-infinite, homogeneous, isotropic, and elastic medium.

38. The deflections in the subgrade soil have been computed through the equation¹¹

$$\Delta_{z} = \frac{pr}{E} F$$
 (26)

where

 Δ_{z} = the vertical deflection at a depth z , in.

p = the tire contact pressure, psi

r = the radius of the tire contact area, in.

E = the modulus of elasticity of the subgrade material, psi

F = the deflection factor (a function of the depth and the radial distance to the load center line)

39. The contact pressure is assumed to be equal to the tire inflation pressure and independent of the effect of the tire contact on the pavement surface. The tire contact area is considered to be circular, so the radius of the contact area is given by the expression

$$r = \sqrt{\frac{A_c}{\pi}}$$
 (27)

an the attack

40. Two coefficients are of particular importance in the study of deflections in earth masses: the modulus of elasticity E and Poisson's ratio v.

41. In Equation 26, the modulus of elasticity E is considered to be constant and equal to the ratio between stress and strain, according to Hooke's law, although modern theories state that the stress-strain

relationship is nonlinear and dependent on the pressure applied to the earth mass.¹² According to the definition, the greater the modulus of elasticity, the greater the resistance of the material to elastic deformation. The modulus of elasticity of a semi-infinite half space in the one-layer theory is considered to be constant and equal to the modulus of the subgrade material.

42. Poisson's ratio is mathematically defined by the equation

ムな 利益物語 化粧し かりろかしかとう

$$v = -\frac{\varepsilon_{t}}{\varepsilon_{1}}$$
(28)

where ε_t is the transversal strain and ε_1 is the longitudinal strain. This coefficient expresses the ability of a material to increase its transverse dimensions when the longitudinal dimensions decrease under the effect of a compressive force, or decrease its transverse dimensions when the material is under the effect of longitudinal tensile force. It varies between 0.0 (for compressible materials) and 0.5 (for noncompressible materials). Unbound granular materials may be considered to have a variation in Poisson's ratio¹³ of 0.2 to 0.5. The CE uses 0.5 as Poisson's ratio of earth materials, and this value is incorporated in the deflection factor F in Equation 26.

43. In Equation 26, the deflection factor F may be taken directly from Figure 15, prepared with Poisson's ratio equal to 0.5.

⁴⁴. As part of an investigation of pressures and deflections in homogeneous soil masses at WES, Ahlvin and Ulery presented mathematical expressions from the theory of elasticity and prepared tables that permit the computation of theoretical stresses, strains, and deflections under a circular load at any place in the earth's mass, and for any value of Poisson's ratio.¹⁴ According to Ahlvin and Ulery, the vertical deflection at a depth z is given by the expression

$$\Delta_{z} = p \frac{1 + v}{E} r [zA + (1 - v)H]$$
(29)





30

A CALL STREET

34.

and a manufactured out all the All Strategies

. . .

where

p, r, and E have the same meaning as in Equation 26 z = depth, in radii of the loaded area v = Poisson's ratio A and H = tabulated functions shown in Tables 2 and 3

45. The above equation may be rearranged as shown below:

$$\Delta_{z} = \frac{pr}{E} (1 + v) [zA + (1 - v)H]$$
(30)

And, finally, the equation becomes

$$\Delta_{z} = \frac{pr}{E} F$$
 (31)

where

$$F = (1 + v) [zA + (1 - v)H]$$
(32)

and represents a deflection factor that is a function of Poisson's ratio of the earth mass. Equation 32 may be written for other values of Poisson's ratio as follows:

> For v = 0.5, F = 1.5 (zA + 0.5H) 0.4, F = 1.4 (zA + 0.6H) 0.3, F = 1.3 (zA + 0.7H) 0.2, F = 1.2 (zA + 0.8H)

46. Tables 4, 5, 6, and 7 show the values for Poisson's ratios of 0.5, 0.4, 0.3, and 0.2, respectively.

Single-Wheel Load

47. Deflections of earth masses under single-wheel loads may be easily computed by use of either Equation 26 with Figure 15 for Poisson's ratio equal to 0.5, or Equations 31 and 32 for any value of Poisson's ratio.

48. As expected, the deflection factors shown in Figure 15 have their maximum values at zero offset. The same may be observed in Tables 2 and 3 for values of A and H. Consequently, the maximum vertical deflection for a single-wheel load is at the center of the loaded area and this deflection diminishes with depth. Table 8 contains the maximum deflection factors for a single-wheel load, for v = 0.5, 0.4, 0.3, and 0.2. These values have been computed by use of Equation 32 and Tables 2 and 3 at zero offset. The maximum deflection factors for single-wheel loads and for v = 0.5, as used by the CE, could also be obtained from Figure 15 at zero offset or computed through the expression

$$F = \frac{3r}{3\sqrt{z^2 + r^2}}$$
(33)

Multiple-Wheel Load

49. Heavy loads, such as the loads transported by large aircraft, cannot be delivered to the pavement through a single wheel. Therefore, multiple-wheel assemblies are used to better distribute the loads on the pavement surface. In order to design for multiple-wheel gear loads, the concept of an "equivalent single-wheel load" was developed.¹ This concept replaces in the computations the effect of multiple wheels on the elastic medium by the effect of a single wheel. The ESWL is therefore a fictitious load acting on a single wheel that has the same contact area as one wheel of the assembly, and that produces the same deflection as the whole assembly at a given depth in the earth mass. In other words, the ESWL, acting on the pavement surface, produces at a given depth the same deflection as the multiple-wheel assembly also acting on the pavement surface.

50. In computing the ESWL, use is made of the principle of superposition,¹ which says that the effect of the whole assembly at a particular point in the earth mass is equal to the summation of the
effects of the individual tires at that point. So, for an n-wheel assembly, the following equation may be written:

$$\Delta_{n} = \Delta_{1} + \Delta_{2} + \dots + \Delta_{n}$$
(34)

where Δ_m is the deflection due to the multiple-wheel assembly at a particular point, and Δ_1 , Δ_2 , ... Δ_n are the effects of the several tires of the assembly on the deflection at that point.

51. By combining Equations 32 and 34, the following equation can be written:

$$\Delta_{m} = \frac{pr}{E} \left(\mathbf{F}_{1} + \mathbf{F}_{2} \dots + \mathbf{F}_{n} \right)$$
(35)

where F_1 , F_2 , ... F_n are the deflection factors due to the several tires of the assembly at the point considered. Therefore,

$$\Delta_{\rm m} = \frac{\rm pr}{\rm E} \sum_{\rm l}^{\rm n} {\rm F}$$
 (36)

52. Equation 36 shows the value of the deflection due to the multiple-wheel gear load at a particular point beneath the assembly. But, in the computation of the ESWL for pavement design, the maximum deflection beneath the assembly, at any depth, is needed. A family of points that represent the maximum deflection factors for the multiple-wheel load must therefore be found. If F_{M} represents the maximum value of $\sum_{n=1}^{n} F$ at any depth, Equation 36 yields:

$$\Delta_{\rm M} = \frac{\rm pr}{\rm E} F_{\rm M}$$
(37)

where Δ_{M} is the maximum deflection due to the multiple-wheel assembly at any depth under the load.

53. According to the definition of ESWL, the following equations may be written:

$$\Delta_{e} = \frac{p_{e}r}{E} F_{e}$$
(38)

and

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{a}} = \Delta_{\mathbf{M}} \tag{39}$$

where Δ_{e} is the maximum deflection due to the ESWL, p_{e} is the ESWL contact pressure, and F_{e} is the maximum deflection factor due to the ESWL. By definition, the ESWL is a single-wheel load, so its maximum deflection factor is the same as for a single wheel. Values of F_{e} may be taken from Tables 4, 5, 6, and 7 for $\nu = 0.5$, 0.4, 0.3, and 0.2, respectively.

54. Equations 37, 38, and 39 combined yield

$$\frac{\mathbf{pr}}{\mathbf{E}}\mathbf{F}_{M} = \frac{\mathbf{p}_{e}\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{E}}\mathbf{F}_{e}$$
(40)

or

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{p} \frac{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{M}}}{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{e}}} \tag{41}$$

Since the contact area of the ESWL is equal to the contact area of one wheel of the assembly, the following equations may be written:

$$\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathbf{A}}_{\mathbf{c}} = \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathbf{c}} \frac{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{M}}}{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{e}}}$$
(42)

and

 $P_{e} = P \frac{F_{M}}{F_{e}}$ (43)

A second s

55. Equation 43 shows the relationship between the ESWL (P) and the load on one tire of the multiple-wheel assembly (P). The ESWL is

not a constant, but varies with the deflection factor ratio $\frac{r_M}{F_e}$. As considered by the CE for pavement purposes, the deflection factor ratio and consequently the ESWL vary with depth only.

Computation of ESWL

56. To compute the ESWL for a particular multiple-wheel assembly, the following data must be known: type of assembly, wheel spacing, assembly load, tire contact area or tire pressure, and Poisson's ratio of the subgrade material. As mentioned earlier, the CE uses a Poisson's ratio of 0.5 for materials used in conventional flexible pavements.

57. Equation 43 shows the ESWL to be a function of the load on one wheel of the assembly and the ratio of the maximum deflection factor for the multiple wheels and the maximum deflection factor for the single wheel. The F_e value is easily obtained, as discussed in previous paragraphs. To compute F_M , the following steps are taken:

- <u>a</u>. Compute the maximum deflection factors beneath one wheel of the assembly, as follows: (1) select a wheel and list its maximum deflection factors (from Table 8) for several depths, and (2) determine the deflection factors for the other wheels of the assembly at their offset distances (Tables 4, 5, 6, or 7). The summation of the deflection factors thus obtained, at each depth considered, represents the maximum deflection factors beneath one wheel at several depths and yields the maximum deflection factors curve for one wheel of the assembly.
- b. Compute the maximum deflection factors beneath the critical points. Each configuration must be analyzed on a case-bycase basis. For example, for a dual-wheel assembly, the critical point is midway between the two wheels. Beneath a twin-tandem, the maximum deflection migrates with depth, from a point beneath the center of one tire contact area at the pavement surface to the centroid of the assembly at deep depths. This migration follows a curved path whose shape depends on the gear geometry. Therefore, the centroid of the assembly and a point where, according to good judgment, the flow path is considered to be must be chosen as critical points.
- <u>c</u>. The maximum deflection factors beneath one wheel and beneath the critical points are plotted and the respective

curves must be drawn. The maximum deflection factor beneath one wheel is the maximum at shallow depths. At deep depths, the $F_{\rm M}$ value lies beneath the centroid of the gear. Thus, the curves will intersect at some depth. That portion of each curve in the vicinity of this intersection must be interconnected by a smooth curve¹ to represent the maximum $F_{\rm M}$ values at all depths (Figure 16).

58. In a previous paragraph, it was stated that the ESWL varies with depth. Therefore, the usual procedure is to compute the ESWL as a percent of the assembly load and then plot this percent versus depth (Figure 17).

Example of ESWL Computation

59. Compute the ESWL for a C-131E aircraft which has the following characteristics:¹⁵

Type of assembly: Twin

Wheel spacing: 26 in.

Assembly load: 27,000 lb (45 percent of the maximum gross weight)

Tire pressure: 90 psi

Poisson's ratio of the subgrade material: 0.4

60. The following steps should be followed in computing the ESWL:

<u>a</u>. Compute the load on one tire, P . Since the assembly has twin wheels,

 $P = \frac{\text{Assembly load}}{2} = \frac{27,000 \text{ lb}}{2} = 13,500 \text{ lb}$

<u>b</u>. Determine the maximum deflection factors for a single wheel.

61. The maximum deflection factors F_e for a single wheel may be taken directly from Table 8 for the value of v = 0.4. The depth in radii is converted to inches as follows:

<u>a</u>. Calculate the tire contact area A_{μ} :

$$A_{c} = \frac{P}{p} = \frac{13,500}{90} = 150$$
 sq in.



.

١

Figure 16. Marimum deflection factors for the C-131E aircraft



Figure 17. ESWL curve for the C-131E aircraft

where

P = load on one tire, 1b

p = tire pressure, psi

<u>b</u>. The contact area is considered to be circular and the radius of the area is determined:

$$r = \sqrt{\frac{A_{\alpha}}{\pi}} = 6.91 \text{ in.}$$

62. The values of the maximum deflection factors for a single wheel and for a Poisson's ratio of 0.4 are listed again in Table 9.

63. Determine the maximum deflection factors for the multiplewheel gear as follows:

- a. The maximum deflection factors beneath one wheel of the assembly must be determined. For the twin assembly, the maximum deflection factor directly under one wheel is the summation of the effects of both wheels at the center line of one of them. In other words, the maximum deflection under a single wheel, plus the deflection produced under that wheel by the other wheel. The maximum deflection factors beneath a single wheel may be taken directly from Table 8. The distance between the two wheels is 26 in., or 3.76 radii. Therefore, the deflection factors at the offset distance of the other wheel may be taken from Table 5, through a linear interpolation, for an offset distance equal to 3.76 radii. These values are shown in Table 10.
- b. The maximum deflection factors midway between the two wheels of the twin assembly must now be found. This point corresponds to an offset distance of 1.88 radii from each wheel. These factors are shown in Table 11.
- <u>c</u>. Curves can be drawn (Figure 16) using the values of F computed beneath one wheel and beneath the centroid of the assembly. These two curves are then connected by drawing a smooth curve at the point of intersection of the two curves. This combined curve represents the maximum deflection factors under the C-131E aircraft.

64. The ESWL can now be computed using the deflection factors taken from the maximum deflection factor curve (see Table 12). A curve of the ESWL in percent of assembly load can now be constructed, as presented in Figure 17.

and the representation of the second

PART IV: CONSTRUCTION OF CBR DESIGN CURVES

CBR Equation

65. The purpose of a pavement is to protect the subgrade from shear failure due to the loads applied at the pavement surface. These loads are applied through tires to the pavement, which spreads the stresses to the point where they do not exceed the strengths of the various pavement layers or the subgrade. Therefore, data such as magnitude of load, tire arrangement, the number of repetitions, and the soil strength are of primary importance for pavement design.

66. The CE uses CBR as a measure of soil strength. It is obtained by use of a standardized test method that gives an indication of the resistance of a soil to the penetration of a piston having an end area of 3 sq in. The CBR is a percentage of a standard resistance 4,16 but is presented as a dimensionless index number.

67. In Part II of this report it was shown that the design thickness of a pavement was equal to a standard thickness, T, corrected by a load repetitions factor, α . In recent years, this standard thickness has been computed using the following CBR equation, which was adequate for low strengths but which had to be modified in the high strength range for pavement stability and longevity.

$$T = \sqrt{\frac{P}{8.1 \text{ CBR}} - \frac{A_c}{\pi}}$$
(44)

In this equation, T is the thickness in inches; P is measured in pounds and represents the tire load for a single-wheel gear, or the ESWL for multiple-wheel loads; and A_{c} is the tire contact area in square inches, usually considered equal to the quotient of the tire load and the tire pressure.

68. This equation was developed primarily from performance data but makes some use of theoretical concepts. It was developed from actual data taken from test sections and airfields in use, with some consideration of the pattern of stresses under a uniform circular load in a

homogeneous, isotropic, and elastic half space. The mathematical developments leading to the CBR equation may be found in Reference 2.

69. Equation 44 can also be written as follows:

$$T = \sqrt{P\left(\frac{1}{8.1 \text{ CBR}} - \frac{1}{p\pi}\right)}$$
(45)

where p is the average tire contact pressure in psi. And, finally, Equation 45 may be expressed in terms of two parameters, $\frac{T}{\sqrt{A_c}}$ and $\frac{CBR}{p}$, as follows:

$$\frac{T}{\sqrt{A_c}} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{8.1 \frac{CBR}{P}} - \frac{1}{\pi}}$$
(46)

The above parameters can be plotted as a combined CBR curve as shown in Figure 18.

70. An analysis of Equation 46 shows the parameter $\frac{T}{\sqrt{A_{c}}}$ to have real values in the interval

$$0 < \frac{CBR}{p} \leq 0.39$$

71. For the upper values of $\frac{CBR}{p}$, the value of $\frac{T}{\sqrt{A_C}}$ approaches zero, which indicates that the underlying layer is sufficiently strong and does not need a pavement layer to protect it.² However, in practice, a minimum thickness of pavement is required to provide a wearing surface and durability. The CBR curve can be adjusted to incorporate these minimum thickness requirements.¹

72. Recently, a new $\frac{CBR}{p}$ versus $\frac{T}{\sqrt{A_c}}$ relation was developed using data from extensive tests conducted at WES with multiple-wheel heavy gear loads,^{9,10} as well as data from earlier test sections.³ The new curve (Figure 19) coincides with the curve shown in Figure 18 for the lower values of $\frac{CBR}{p}$. The statistical equation of the best-fit curve, in terms of the same parameters $\frac{CBR}{p}$ and $\frac{T}{\sqrt{A_c}}$, is:





42

June





Julia, 2

1. A. W.

$$\frac{T}{\sqrt{A_{c}}} = \left[-0.0481 - 1.562 \left(\log \frac{CBR}{p} \right) - 0.6414 \left(\log \frac{CBR}{p} \right)^{2} - 0.4730 \left(\log \frac{CBR}{p} \right)^{3} \right]$$
(47)

Both Equation 47 and the curve in Figure 19 can be used to compute the pavement thickness for any value of CBR. No adjustment of this curve is required for the higher values of $\frac{CBR}{R}$.

「私を見たい」とないた状でにないてきっかいい。りてい、

þ,

î

Ì,

73. Equations 44 and 45, as well as the curve in Figure 18, may still be used in computing pavement thickness on subgrades with CBR values up to about 12-15.

74. The computation of pavement thickness for single-wheel loads may be done by direct use of the above methodology. The computation of pavement thickness for multiple-wheel loads may be accomplished in a manner similar to that for single-wheel loads, but since the ESWL does not have a fixed value and instead varies with depth, the value to be used in the CBR equation must be determined for the pavement thickness. Two situations are normally considered in determining the CBR/thickness relationship as follows:

a. When the CBR of the underlying layer is known, the thickness of pavement is computed. For single wheels, this can be accomplished directly through use of the equations. However, for multiple-wheel loads an iterative procedure is required. In this procedure, a thickness is assumed and the corresponding ESWL and tire pressure are computed. Then, by use of Figure 19, a value of thickness can be computed. This result is then compared with the assumed value. If they are not sufficiently close, a new thickness is assumed, close to the computed thickness, and the calculations repeated. When the assumed and computed values are sufficiently close, the CBR equation or its curve and ESWL have been properly used.

b. When the thickness is fixed and the CBR is desired, the ESWL at the fixed depth can be computed and no trial-anderror procedure is involved in the use of the CBR equation or its curve.

Sto Mary 184 Mary 18 10

. almit

high wr

CBR Design Curves for Aircraft

75. A set of design curves may be constructed based upon the procedures presented above, by repeating the calculations for various loads, traffic levels, or thicknesses. The calculations may be made simpler when numerous values are needed by assuming the pavement thicknesses and calculating the CBR required. This eliminates the trialand-error procedures. Part V of this report has been prepared in order to illustrate the development of a set of design curves through application of the entire procedure presented herein.

1 William

.145

PART V: COMPLETE EXAMPLE OF THE CONSTRUCTION OF CBR DESIGN CURVES FOR AIRFIELDS

Introduction

76. This part was prepared in order to show a complete example of the development of CBR design curves for flexible pavements. This example will be for the C-141A aircraft, which is currently used by the Air Force for the design of medium-load airfields.

Example Problem

77. Assume a set of design curves for taxiways is desired for 10,000, 50,000, and 100,000 passes of the C-141A aircraft having the following characteristics:

Gear configuration: Twin-tandem tricycle (Figure 20) Wheel spacing: 32.5 by 48.0 in. Tread (T_W) : 210 in. Tire width (W_t) : 12.6 in. Tire contact area (A_c) : 208 sq in. Maximum takeoff weight: 320.0 kips

Poisson's ratio is assumed to be 0.5.

78. The solution of this problem may be divided into three parts:(a) computation of the pass-per-coverage ratio, (b) computation of the ESWL, and (c) computation of thickness requirements.

Computation of pass-percoverage ratio

79. Since the main gear is a twin-tandem arrangement, the pass-percoverage ratio is given by Equation 23:

$$\frac{P}{C} = \frac{1}{f(x_{oc}) W_{t}}$$

where $f(x_{OC})$ is the maximum ordinate of the cumulative distribution curve and W_{t} is the tire width.



の語の部になり

Figure 20. C-141A landing gear configuration

80. A twin-tandem assembly is composed of two twin wheels in tandem, having the same wheel path and producing identical cumulative distribution curves. Therefore, the ordinates of a twin-tandem cumulative distribution curve equal two times the corresponding ordinates of the cumulative curve of one of the twins. The cumulative curve of a twin is obtained by graphical addition of the overlapping ordinates of two adjacent GND curves for one wheel, separated by a distance equal to the wheel spacing.

81. The ordinates of a GND curve of one wheel are given by Equation $\frac{1}{4}$.

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\sigma_x} f(z)$$

According to Equation 16, for a wander width equal to 70 in., used currently for taxiways, σ_x equals 30.43 in. The values of z and

f(z) may be taken from Table 1. Table 13 may then be prepared for the construction of the GND curve for one wheel.

82. Using the values in Table 13, two equal curves can be drawn (Figure 21) 32.5 in. apart to represent the effect of the front or rear twin wheels. Each solid line represents one wheel. The dashed line represents the cumulative curve for the two wheels. The cumulative value of the ordinates for the twin-tandem is double the value of the dashed line. So,

$$f(x_{00}) = 2 \times 0.0231 = 0.0462$$

63. Since the wander is 70 in. and the spacing between the center lines of inside wheels $(T_W - S_t)$ is greater than 100 in., the cumulative curves of one twin-tandem gear will have no influence on the other. Therefore, the maximum ordinate for the C-141A aircraft is $f(x_{oc}) = 0.0462$.

84. The maximum ordinate could also be found in a simple manner by use of the chart in Figure 10, without need of constructing the GND curves.

85. With the known values of $f(x_{oc})$ and W_t , the pass-per-coverage ratio can be computed, as follows:

$$\frac{P}{C} = \frac{1}{0.0462 \times 12.6} = 1.72$$

Computation of ESWL

86. The ESWL is computed through Equation 43:

$$P_e = P \frac{F_M}{F_e}$$

where P is the load on one wheel of the assembly, F_{M} is the maximum deflection factor for the multiple-wheel assembly, and F_{e} is the single-wheel maximum deflection factor. This example will be for one main landing gear consisting of four tires.



Figure 21. GND curve, front or rear twin of the C-141A main gear

49

240

and the state prove the factor

a vera

a. Determine the load on one wheel (P). The load on one main gear of the C-141A is considered equal to 45 percent of the aircraft gross weight. Since the assembly has four tires, P may be computed as shown below:

 $P = \frac{1}{11} \times 0.45 \times 320,000 = 36,000$ lb

b. Determine single-wheel deflection factors. The ESWL is, by definition, a single-wheel load; therefore, the maximum deflection factors for a single wheel (F_{Θ}) may be taken from Table 8 for v = 0.5. Since the tire contact area is considered circular, the radius is:

$$r = \sqrt{\frac{A_c}{\pi}} = \sqrt{\frac{208}{\pi}} = 8.14$$
 in.

The F_e values for various depths taken from Table 8 relate to depth as shown in Table 14.

- c. Determine maximum multiple-wheel deflection factors.
 - (1) The first step in determining the maximum deflection factors for a multiple-wheel assembly is to compute the deflection factors beneath one wheel of the assembly (point 1, Figure 22). For a twin-tandem gear, the maximum deflection factors beneath one wheel are the summation of the maximum deflection factors produced by one wheel (zero offset) plus the deflection factors produced by the other wheels at their offset distances.
 - (2) The maximum deflection factors beneath one wheel at zero offset may be taken from Table 8. The maximum deflection factors at the offset distances of the other wheels may be taken from Table 4, by linear interpolation. For the offset distances of 32.5 in. or 3.99 radii, 48.0 in. or 5.90 radii, and 47.96 in. or 7.12 radii, the deflection factors will be as shown in Table 15.
 - (3) The second step is to compute the deflection factors at the centroid of the assembly (point 2 in Figure 22), or at 3.56 radii from all wheels. The deflection factors at this point due to the whole assembly equal four times the factor for one wheel. Table 16 shows the maximum deflection factors at the centroid of the assembly obtained from Table 4.



. . . .

Figure 22. Maximum deflection factor curves

51

A. Salation

4

. - **2**5 - 1

· .

- (4) The two points considered above are the easiest to identify as critical points under any kind of gear. It is known that, under a twin-tandem assembly, the maximum deflection factors migrate with depth, through a curve starting just beneath the center of one wheel and ending beneath the centroid of the assembly. This path varies according to the gear geometry, and there is no practical way to identify it. Therefore, a third point is selected arbitrarily, where the migration path is more likely to be. This third point helps to construct the final maximum deflection curves, given basically by the first two curves. It may be necessary at times to select more than three points to fully define the maximum deflection curve.
- (5) Select an intermediate point (point 3 in Figure 22) whose offset distances to the four wheels are 1^k in. or 1.72 radii, 21 in. or 2.58 radii, 43 in. or 5.28 radii, and 46 in. or 5.61 radii. Table 17 shows the deflection factors for this point.
- (6) The next step is to draw the deflection factor curves corresponding to the critical points studied (Figure 22). As can be seen, at shallow depths the deflection factors are maximum at point 1. At deep depths, the maximum deflection factors occur at point 2. At intermediate depths, the maximum deflection factors occur at point 3, which assists in construction of a dashed curve that provides a transition between the other curves. The combined curve represents the maximum deflection factors beneath the assembly. With values taken from this curve, the ESWL corresponding to various depths can be computed.
- (7) The ESWL is usually computed in percent of the assembly load. Table 18 can help in the computations. Using these values, a curve of the ESWL in percent of the assembly load versus depth can be constructed, as shown in Figure 23.
- (8) This procedure may be followed for other groupings of tires to insure that the maximum ESWL has been obtained.

Determination of CBR/thickness requirements

ins!

87. The CBR versus thickness curves may be developed for any loading condition. This example is for the C-141A and the calculations herein are for a 320,000-1b gross weight. The calculation of the CBRthickness relationships may be accomplished by hand calculations or by computer. Both methods will be presented in this report. Appendix A



A CONSIGNATION

ì

A AN AN

....

Figure 23. ESWL curve for the C-141A

53

and and mail Martin and Martin

1.1

contains the procedures for determining thickness requirements using the computer program. This portion of the report will present the hand method of calculation, which follows several distinct steps. These steps are illustrated in Tables 19, 20, and 21, which present calculations for 10,000, 50,000, and 100,000 passes.

- <u>a.</u> <u>Step 1.</u> The initial step in the procedure is to assume a series of thicknesses for which it is desired to calculate the corresponding CBR values.
- b. Step 2. The second step is to convert the thicknesses assumed above for particular pass levels to standard thicknesses using the load repetition factors (α) from Figure 14. This figure is presented in terms of coverages; therefore, the number of passes must be converted to coverages using the pass-per-coverage ratio of 1.72 calculated previously for the C-141A. The 10,000 passes convert to 5,814 coverages and yield an α of 0.791, the 50,000 passes convert to 29,069 coverages and yield an α of 0.87, and the 100,000 passes convert to 58,140 coverages and yield an α of 0.90.
- <u>c.</u> Step 3. The standard thicknesses are divided by the square root of the contact area. The $\frac{T}{\sqrt{A_c}}$ values are then used to enter Figure 19 and corresponding values of $\frac{CBR}{p_e}$ are determined.
- <u>d.</u> Step 4. Determine the ESWL at the assumed depths using values of ESWL as a percent of the assembly load obtained from Figure 23. Divide the ESWL by the contact area of one tire to obtain the ESWL tire pressure $(p_{\rm c})$.
- e. Step 5. The $\frac{CBR}{p_e}$ values are then multiplied by the corresponding p values to obtain the CBR required below the assumed thickness.

88. This procedure is repeated for each desired load or pass level. The final CBR versus thickness curves can now be plotted for each pass level as show in Figure 24.

54

and the state of the first state



ł.



hiji sa

a dian

.....

REFERENCES

- Ahlvin, R. G., "Developing a Set of CBR Design Curves," Instruction Report 4, Nov 1959, U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, CE, Vicksburg, Miss.
- Turnbull, W. J., Foster, C. R., and Ahlvin, R. G., "Mathematical Expression of the CBR Relations," Technical Report No. 3-441, Nov 1956, U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, CE, Vicksburg, Miss.
- 3. Ahlvin, R. G., "Consolidated CBR Criteria," <u>Journal, Soil Mechanics</u> and Foundations Division, American Society of Civil Engineers, Vol 84, SM4, Oct 1958, pp 1825-1 - 1825-16.
- "Development of CBR Flexible Pavement Design Method for Airfields (A Symposium)," <u>Transactions, American Society of Civil Engineers</u>, Vol 115, Paper 2406, 1950, p 453.
- Turnbull, W. J., Foster, C. R., and Ahlvin, R. G., "Design of Flexible Airfield Pavements for Multiple-Wheel Landing Gear Assemblies; Analysis of Existing Data," Technical Memorandum No. 3-349, Report 2, Jun 1955, U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, CE, Vicksburg, Miss.
- Brown, D. N. and Thompson, O. O., "Lateral Distribution of Aircraft Traffic," Miscellaneous Paper S-73-56, Jul 1973, U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, CE, Vicksburg, Miss.
- 7. Spiegel, M. R., <u>Schaum's Outline of Theory and Problems of</u> <u>Statistics</u>, Schaum Publishing, New York, 1961.
- 8. Arkin, H. and Colton, R. R., <u>Statistical Methods</u>, 5th ed., Barnes and Noble, New York, 1970.
- Ahlvin, R. G. et al., "Multiple-Wheel Heavy Gear Load Pavement Tests; Basic Report," Technical Report S-71-17, Volume I, Nov 1971, U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, CE, Vicksburg, Miss.
- 10. Hammitt, G. M. et al., "Multiple-Wheel Heavy Gear Load Pavement Tests; Analysis of Behavior Under Traffic," Technical Report S-71-17, Volume IV, Nov 1971, U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, CE, Vicksburg, Miss.
- 11. U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, CE, "Investigations of Pressures and Deflections for Flexible Pavements; Homogeneous Clayey-Silt Test Section," Technical Memorandum No. 3-323, Report 1, Mar 1951, Vicksburg, Miss.
- 12. Sowers, G. F. and Vesic, A. B., "Vertical Stresses in Subgrades Beneath Statically Loaded Flexible Pavements," <u>Stress Distribution</u> <u>in Earth Masses</u>, Bulletin 342, pp 90-120, 1962, Highway Research Board, National Academy of Sciences - National Research Council, Washington, D. C.

1

ł.,

an Margare Start

13. Yoder, E. J. and Witczak, M. W., <u>Principles of Pavement Design</u>, 2d ed., Wiley, New York, 1975.

Ϋ́

operation of the second

- 14. Ahlvin, R. G. and Ulery, H. H., "Tabulated Values for Determining the Complete Pattern of Stresses, Strains, and Deflections Beneath a Uniform Circular Load on a Homogeneous Half Space," <u>Stress</u> <u>Distribution in Earth Masses</u>, Bulletin 342, pp 1-13, 1962, Highway Research Board, National Academy of Sciences - National Research Council, Washington, D. C.
- 15. Hay, D. R., "Aircraft Characteristics for Airfield Pavement Design and Evaluation," Technical Report No. AFWL-TR-69-54, Oct 1969, Air Force Weapons Laboratory, Kirtland Air Force Base, N. Mex.
- 16. Department of Defense, "Test Method for Pavement Subgrade, Subbase, and Base-Course Materials," Military Standard Mil-Std-621A, Dec 1964, Washington, D. C.

z in standard deviations	f(z)	Area Under the Curve percent
0,00	0.3989	0.00
0.20	0.3910	7.93
0.50	0.3521	19.15
1,00	0,2420	34.13
1,15	0.2059	37.49
1.50	0,1295	43.32
2.00	0.0540	47.72
3,00	0.0044	49.87
3.99	0.0001	50.00

43.24

Ordinate	s and	Area Un	der the	SND Curve

į

Table 2 Therefor "A"

								:										
kpth									Cffset i	n redit								
11 11 11		4.7		3.5	в р 5										υ	्र	12	
ò		- 1	·	1.0	C-1	u,	. •	. ,	Ċ,	0	0	0	Ð	0	0	0	0	
		5.17ê÷.	67308.	×1×.	7673 7 .		Stricket -	. 5-5.	. 32 556	11500	. 200 6 .	2,020						
		45367.	. 77564	.73483	4ICE 9.	5 MUR .	.15+33	19251.	.02640	61-00-	.30167	Egove -	500¢÷	10001	02000.			
3	1 etc.	-1301-	.6E316	.62690	.52061	1	tofer.	ééthe.	01120.	55,660	. 20250							
1	1955	.62015	14265	19285.	625111.	31045	6c74t.	. 06591	SILEC.									
	Cass.	50443.	.5162.	, u6445,	.35390	.26155.	96631.	667601	tclfc.	Eloic.	70400.	. 20209	. 30115	1.000.	6000.	.00025	11000.	60000.
ų č	() 45 41	16924	42075	15404.	.33676	-2127-	-17952	C1001.		,								
۲. ت	10.00	47814.	.39491	65426.	£6362.	eteez.	.17124	.1022	93340.									
ц. С	18328.	- 36332	GEZTE.	.31243	.26581	-012	.16206	.1361.										
¢.5	40188 ·	:32492	. 30669	70775.	.25632	. 1945	. 15253	-6001.										
-+	647621	59795.	30012.	16345	.21468	173(9	62(11)	0-260.	15165	21110	- LCC •	:0100 ·	.30236.	Entoc.	76000.	00050	62600.	. JODIF
<u>.</u>	.25179	.22795	.21662	06361.	.17626	.15101	.12570	:0160.	03530	35610.	17.900	(346)	6200.	12100+	3110¢.			
.:	561 AT.	. 1£ 552	.15877	10841.	.13436	.11592	€cct.	94040.	05116	.02142	E1010.		3260c.	. 202.	1,100.	£700C.	5,000.	FSCOC.
-11	10001	10453	04101	7.266.	11060.	e¥±£0.	T147C.	SET 30	96110.	.02221	.0116.	63,001	<i>(6</i> :30	1,200.	. 27160	15000.	.00056	. 30036
5.5	-07152	A6010.	74630.	.066 3 6	.06373	•05974	.05555	04840°	.03757	Ettec.	12210.	56700.	Eyrac.	÷0030÷	-1205T	.00115	93000.	5-100C
",	SE130.	10156.	.05022	94840.	70740.	-0440.	19270.	eráte.	-03150-	-019Ê0	02210-	<i>cm.</i> 00.	305X.	1.55	100242	55100.	61000	. 20051
t	16/21.	97650.	70650.	. 02502	, 0 2832	67220.	15,50.	06420°	£6120.	56312.	Serie.	€Moc.	. 105 Jr	13800.	. 30292	0,100.	66000.	. 30065
un.	37, IC .	956to.				.01835			510 TC .	C+210+	0-600.	£070¢.	500.	÷6500.	96200.	62100.	Ettoc.	5100C -
	1,710.					TOELC.			.01165	596001	36.36	50° 50	56+3C	-12 CC -	66200.	.00156	.00124	13000.
-	300 1 0-					. toc			μέψας.	teter.	1.00	54300.	5tro0.	C}€SC+	16200.	.00193	CE10C.	16000
.1.	5					14200			Sector.	336.	19906.	22,400,	9650c.	.00332	. 30276	63100.	HELOC.	76coc.
6	.02.12					00500.			. 305E	. 20520	. 35 v. K	éctor.	.00353	ToEpc.	.00256	19ICC.	££100.	960001
.) ++								. 204.77	وكسيرين والم	301.5	76200.	. 00352	. સ્ટોસ	. 302T3	14200.			

Best Available Copy

				52020-					-oTiza					HOLTO-		-07064	.01036	0363C	- 056 3 7	9-1930.	. <i>363</i> 65	- 06522	11E36 .	. 05230	926301	
			3	¥88.					. 2629C					26230		.06270	.o£136.	SLI5.	19090-	.07561	.07é75	-07452	01210.	fiser.	. 06673	
			4	÷1660.					366c -					23660.		÷≟-6c•	26160	00240	÷???6c.	co £6c.	. JE915	. 05562	7619C.	. 378.33	10-10.	
			w	.12576		.12512			12493					7627.	.12350	13251.	72121.	θ2611.	-11691	2/111.	.10585	06660-	73560.	. 365- 8	. 06295	01270.
			-	14315		.14268			.14273					14182	66071.	-11-058	.13762	53461.	61151.	96521.	.11615	.10636	10101.	00760*	.06754	.06150
			-	.16636		.16688			.16665					.16516	.16369	.16199	.158 L 6	.15395	61671.	13661.	.12765	.11775	.10643	579975	46560.	.06300
			4	.2004.5	13002.	.20072			.19962					.19673	.19520	£\$061.	.18618	.17895	17154	.15596	06141.	.12792	.11620	.10603	.09702	.06930
			4	.25200	19IS2.	-25162	:25124		;56672.					.24.386	• 24-070	25495	81455.	.21206	11661.	.17640	.15575	.13642	10421.	37111.	19101.	.09290
	5	in radii		.33515	.33794	.3372€	.33638		: 33293					.31877	.31162	37662.	C4175.	.25550	-23467	90661.	.17380	.11-968	76061.	.11650	.10548	.09510
Teble a	unation "	Cfraet 1	01	17312.	.51627	.51362	.50966	50412	49728		.46061			.45122	£10£7°	. 39572	45035.	£16c£.	.27453	.22185	.18450	.15750	.13c99	21121.	.10654	. 09ê20
	<u>د</u> ا		1.5	52117	.70862	12007.	.66823	.67235	62429.	-63 1 69	24413.	96665.	-57361	.55364	-51552	62694.	39242	.33695	19562.	.23164						00660.
			1.2	-93676	02675	560CG.	.66726	.83042	.79308	.75653	54127.	.65833	·65677	10129.	es:13.29	.50496	70/17.	.35243	.30361	.23668						
			-	1.27319	1.15107	¥6660.1	1.02740	.96202	56206	71643.	cE003-	.75571	56yIL.	.67769	.é11ê7	-53138	.43202	.36155	69605.	-23932	.19455	.16326	14071.	.12352	10969	
			0.5	1.É2553	1.4711	1.30614	1.19210	1.09555	21610-1	6-120	.97742	.62136	05611	.72597	.64614	.55559	.44502	07695 .	19416.	.24168						
				1.40575	1.613.1	1.46301	1.32442	1.20222	1.10630	1.02154	64016.	.37328	.92616	.76509	-ć7337	.57633	.45656	. 37608	75916.	.25125						
			:	14116-1	1.725.1	1.56242	6160711	1.25953	1057111	1.03350	-6766-	96°26°	.55556	. ۋەلىرچ	01801.	.57246	.44512	36098	.32156.	.24620						
					1. 3019	1.12765	7722717	1.35602	1.22176	1.11396	1.03037	-35175	.5251	.ô5005	.71882	66203.	47022	.3 6 403	50725.	.24589	.19755					
					-60, -11		1.4836	17 S. 1		5-13238	191-11-1	:X125	570 6 3.	en 	1424.		*122**	etree.	19-27.	8	1.1605	.16554	112-1-	54451.	£1011.	×
		4114 04117	1110-	· ,	•				1		:			. 1			αj	oj	•••	1	uN	50	•	a) j	ŝ	2

Best Available Copy

Best A.

Table 4. Deflection Factors for w = 0.5

. Tines

ŀ

ともうれんせんにつきませい それきれるたいがくさったりたちからし

1

فالنس

												i						
									Officer	in red	3							
	9	23	-	4.0	0.0	-	2	뒤	2	-	-	Ч	6	-	-	2	5	4
Ċ	1.500	1.485	1.138	1.354	1.219	0-955	0.703	0.534	0.30%	0.254	601.0	051-0	6.125	101-0	0-094	0.07k	0.063	0.053
0.1	1.493	1.177	1.Å30	446.1	1.204	0-950	0.709	0.536	0.3 6 5	0.254	69T*0	151.0	ł	١	ł	I	1	I
0.2	EAL	1.455	5	1.315	1.165	0-940	0.722	0.541	065-0	0.254	691.0	151.0	521.0	101-0	0.0 3 Å	ł	1	1
5.3	1.437	1.420	1.365	1.275	1.128	0.925	0.731	0.549	0.39J	0.255	0-190	ł	ł	1	1	ł	ł	ł
6. k	1.393	1.376	EX:1	1.229	1.088	0.908	0.735	0.536	166.0	ł	ł	ł	I	1	ł	ł	1	1
9.5	1.342	1.24	1.271	1.160	1.046	0.505	0.73	0.562	0,405	162-0	0,191	151-0	921-0	0.103	9.094	0.075	0.062	0.053
3.6	1.2%	1.269	1.21	1-130	1.009	0.867	6.729	0.566	ł	ł	1	I	I	I	ł	I	I	1
1.10	1.229	1.212	1.163	1.055	0-971	0.826	0.72	9. 568	0.403	ł	۱	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	t	ł
0.5	1.11	351.1	1.110	1-034	0.935	0.822	0.711	0.568	1	ł	1	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł
6 °C	1.1.5	1.101	1.058	10.994	0.906	0.799	0.695	0.566	ł	1	1	1	ł	I	t	ł	ł	ł
1.0	1.061	1.069	1.009	0.947	0.866	9/1.0	0.605	0.563	0.415	0.265	461.0	0.153	זגג.0	0.103	160-0	0.075	0.063	0.054
1.2	0.950	0-9-0	9.5°0	0.868	0.803	0.131	0.656	0.552	C.AIT	0.269	961-0	55T-0	0.12 ⁸	C.109	60.0	I	ł	ł
1.5	C.č32	0.82	0.787	0.765	0.T19	0.666	0.610	0.529	0.114	0.273	0°70	0.155	0.129	011.0	0.095	0.076	0.063	150.0
2.0	113-0	c.66£	0.633	0.632	0.604	0.572	0.537	0.483	0.393	0.275	0.203	0.155	0.131	111.0	0.096	0.076	0.063	2.35
2.5	0-557	0.554	0.5-6	0.533	0.516	0.495	0.4TJ	0.436	1/12-0	0.272	0.205	0.162	6ET-0	0.113	260-0	0.077	0.063	0.054
3.0	074	0.473	0.467	0.459	0.446	4E4.0	0. k 19	565-0	0.3k3	0.265	0.205	0.163	6.135	יננ.0	0.099	Q.075	0.05	0.55
0 -1	0. 30	0.363	0. 3Ú	10.357	155.0	A.K 0	12E-0	0.323	0.296	0.245	661.0	691-0	961.0	9:1:0	0.101	0.079	0.065	0.055
<u>5.</u> 0	0. 29h	0.294	ł	I	1	0.261	ł	1	0.256	0.222	OGE.O	651-0	SEL.0	111.0	201.0	0.050	0.026	0.056
6.0	0.21	1	ł	I	ł	0.240	1	ł	9.233	0.200	511-0	0.152	6.13B	911-0	201-0	190.0	190.0	0.055
1.0	0.212	ł	ł	I	I	0.205	ł	1	0.197	191-0	0.162	0.Ik5	0.128	0.11k	0.101	6.C22	0.063	0.057
8.0	0.126	I	1	ł	1	6 <u>61.</u> 0	I	1	£11°0	0.164	051-0	961.0	0.123	011.0	0.099	0.0	0.053	0.053
9-0	0.166	1	1	1	ł	6.163	I	ł	0.155	641.0	6ET-0	921-0	0.217	101.0	100-0	0.000	0.065	0.055
10.0	1	1	ł	I	1	I	I	0.144	E41-0	151.0	0.129	0.120	111.0	0.102	0.09h	1	1	1

An water from the better

mlandaniand

and the set

3-4

Table 5. Deflection Pectors for v = 0.4

. Ant

5 .																		
4		ľ		4	1	-	ļ	-			╡	ľ	4	F		9	21	ļ
Ħ	-	0	-			-		2		-	•	1	0	-				
0	1.500	1.663	1.611	1.71	1.365	1.069	0.787	0.596	0.4 <i>3</i> 4	0.201	0.212	0.168	0,1,0	0.120	90T-0	0.083	0.070	65c-0
0.1	1.6.6	1.629	1.576	1.681	1.326	1.052	0.792	0.599	0.435	0.264	0.212	691.0	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	I
0.2	1.502	1.555	1-531	1.432	1.274	1.031	0.600	0.603	9E%-0	0.204	0.212	0.169	041.0	0.120	01.0	ł	ł	I
0.3	1.549	1.511	1.471	1.376	1.220	1.007	0.604	0°90	0.136	0.285	0.212	ł	1	I	ł	t	ł	I
9. P	1.489	1.47	1.415	1.26	1.169	0.982	0.802	0.613	0.441	1	1	1	1	ł	I	1	1	1
0.5	1.435	1.407	1.352	1.2%	1.120	956-0	0.796	0.6 16	0.444	0.257	0.233	69T"0	INT.O	0.120	01.05	0.064	0.070	0.063
0.6	1.359	1.341	1.209	1.196	1.073	3.925	0.786	0.617	1	ł	ł	ł	t	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł
0.7	1.293	1.276	1.25	1.112	1.029	0.885	117.0	0.616	0.446	ł	I	ł	ł	1	ł	1	ł	ŀ
0. 8	1.238	1.212	591-1	1.009	0.988	EL9"0	0.760	0.614	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	1	I	ł	ł	ł
0-9	1.165	1.151	1.105	1.043	0.955	0.846	147.0	0.609	ł	ł	ł	I	ł	ł	ł	1	ł	1
1.0	1.106	1.117	160'T	0.991	0.910	0.819	0.727	0.603	0.452	0.292	0.215	UT.0	0.142	121.0	507"0	0.031	0.070	050-0
1.2	0.993	0.967	0.955	0.905	0.841	0.768	0.693	102-0	0.450	0.294	0.217	0.172	0.112	121-0	907°C	I	I	ł
1.5	0.561	0.554	0.81k	0.795	0.719	0.6 96	0.640	0.559	0.342	162-0	0.219	2/1-0	0.113	221-0	901-0	0.001	0-010	0.060
2.0	0.692	0.653	0.658	0.654	0.626	165-0	0.559	0-505	0.420	0.295	0.221	511-0	141.0	0.123	101.0	0.035	0.070	0.060
2.5	0.574	112-0	0.563	0.550	0.533	0.513	0.490	0.454	366-0	0.290	0.221	9/17-0	941°0	1ZT-0	01.0	0.036	110.0	050.0
20	0.458	0.436	0.401	0.473	0. NG2	0.449	0.433	0.108	0.363	0.200	0.23	9/17-0	LAL.O	521-0	0.100	0. 066	110.0	0,063
r.0	0.37%	6.1J.9	0.371	0.368	0.362	0.355	14E-0	NEE-0	0.309	0.256	0.210	1/1.0	941.0	921-0	011-0	0.067	0.072	0.061
5.0	0.322	0.302	ł	I	1	0.252	ł	1	0.265	162-0	191.0	0.168	111.0	0.125	011-0	0.007	0.072	0.061
6.0	0.253	I	ŧ	ţ	l	0.Zh7	ł	1	0.230	0.207	Egi*o	0,160	oit.0	0.123	601-0	0.098	0.073	0.062
1.0	0.215	1	I	1	I	0.214	I	ł	0.202	70.16	0.1 <i>6</i> 9	151-0	0.135	021.6	זטניס	0.058	0.073	0.062
3 .0	0.191	ł	t	ł	1	0.105	1	ł	0.180	0.169	951-0	C41.0	921-0	911-0	0.105	0.067	£10°0	0.063
9.0	0/170	4	ł	t	ł	0.168	I	I	0.162	0.15 k	441.0	6E1-0	0.122	211.0	201.0	0.085	0.073	0.062
10.0	I	1	ł	t	ł	I	ł	81,T*0	0.I h 8	141.0	1 51.0	SZL.0	511-0	0.1 07	0.099	1	ł	ł
																		I

in and specific Constants of the specific section of t

1 Suga

Table 6. Deflection Pactors for v = 0.3

••••***

î.

....

Table 7. Deflection Factors for v = 0.2

ŝ

F.

ji Li -----

																		}
Dept.																		
3							ļ		200		H H	ļ		•	ŀ	ļ		ŀ
풻	0	2	4 0			-	2		2	m	-	\neg	•	-	•	8	3	-
0	1.920	1.91	1.641	1-134	1.561	1.222	0.ở99	0.633	0. lịg6	97.7Q	0.242	0.192	0.160	TEL-0	121-0	560-0	0.630	0.C57
0.1	3.546	1.825	1.766	1.658	194.1	21,185	106°0	0.60L	Löt".0	0.325	0.242	66T-0	;	ł	I	1	1	ŧ
C.2	1.767	1.747	1.687	912.1	50 1 - T	5412.1	0.902	0.685	72Å.0	. 32	0.242	0.193	0,160	TEL-0	021.0	I	1	1
е, С	1.635	1.665	1-599	164-1	1.322	1.110	0.897	0.687	0.195	9.325	0.242	t	ł	ł	I	ł	ł	ł
۲ 0	1.602	1.552	1.522	1.418	1.265	ET0.1	0.681	199-0	0.kçş	I	t	ł	ł	1	ł	ł	ł	1
9.5	1.516	1.199	1.42	1.343	1.203	1.036	c.873	0.685	0.540	0.326	0.242	6CT-0	191.0	Q.137	021-0	960 -0	0.060	0.055
6.5	1-1-37	1. k19	1.365	1.272	341.1	666-0	0.856.	0.681	1	ł	1	ŀ	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	1
0.7	1.358	1. 341	1.290	21.17	1.093	156-0	0.636	a. 676	0.500	ł	ł	ł	ŧ	I	ł	ľ	t	ł
9.5	1.233	1.267	1-220	1.14	1.044	066-0	0.816	0.668	ł	ł	ł	ł	I	ł	t	I	ł	1
0.9	1.213	1.190	1.155	1.092	1.006	793.0	0.795	0.660	1	1	1	ł	1	1	4	ł	ł	1
1-0	LAL-E	1,161	1.097	1-03h	0.954	0.865	0.77Å	0.650	0.1455	0.327	0.243	161.0	191.0	0.138	021-0	0.096	0.000	0.065
21	5.629	1.016	0.981	666-0	0.875	0.805	0.731	0.62T	69 4.0	125.0	112.0	161.0	0.161	0.136	0.120	ł	ł	ł
1.5	3.88 t	0.876	0.835	0.820	0.715	0.72%	0.670	0-590	0.Å75	0.326	0.244	661-0	0,161	661-0	0.1.0	0.07Ś	0-00-0	0.068
2.0	0.701	0.702	U 9-0	0.670	0.643	0.613	0.500	0.527	a.Wk	9.320	0.243	0.195	9.162	3E1.0	121.0	960-0	0.030	0.068
2.5	0.534	0.532	0.57L	0.562	0.546	0.526	0.505	0.470	0.Å3Q	012-0	0.240	161-0	291"0	0.138	121°D	0.097	0.003	9.063
2	0.:96	0.495	0-4-0	0.402	0.172	0.459	0.114	0.120	0.377	0.297	0.236	0-192	0.161	851.0	6.121	0.097	0:060	0.053
¥.0	0.30	0.379	0.378	0.376	c. 368	0.362	0.354	0.342	0.318	0.263	£22-0	781.0	651.0	151.0	0.121	0.097	0.000	0.063
5.0 2	102.0	905-0	ł	I	I	0.297	ł	I	0.272	6-23	0.206	9/1°C	151.0	SET-0	6TT-0	9.096	0.000	690-0
6.3	0.257	I	I	ł	1	0.231	l	I	0.235	0.21	0~190	0,168	0,148	21.0	0.117	0.056	0.000	0.069
01	0.27	١	ł	۱	ł	112-0	1	۱۰	102.0	0.192	6/TT-0	0.158	0.141	121.0	0.115	0.095	e.c30	0.069
8.0	0.19 h	ł	1	1	I	0.191	I	1	181.0	0.173	0.160	0.247	HEL.O	0.122	111.0	Eú0*0	0.079	0.069
C- 6	0.172	I	ł	ł	ł	011.0	ł	1	0.165	1st o	0,1,0	0.137	121.0	111.0	jor.o	0.091	0.076	0.068
0.0	I	ł	1	1	1	ł	ł	0.'5!	0.150	441.0	ונניס	0.126	611.0	III-0	E01.0	I	ł	ł
													ļ					

Margarette Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margarette
Margar

: conduct active history

Tab	le	8
-----	----	---

Depth z		Maximum Deflec	tion Factors	
<u>in radii</u>	v = 0.5	v = 0.4	v = 0.3	v = 0.2
0.0	1.500	1,680	1.820	1,920
0.1	1.493	1.646	1.764	1.846
0.2	1.471	1,602	1.701	1.767
0.3	1.437	1,549	1.632	1.685
0.4	1.393	1,489	1.559	1,602
0.5	1.342	1.425	1,484	1.518
0.6	1.286	1,359	1.409	1.437
0.7	1.229	1.293	1.336	1,358
0.8	1.171	1.228	1.265	1.283
0.9	1,115	1,165	1.198	1,213
1.0	1.061	1.106	1,135	1.147
1.2	0.960	0.998	1.021	1.029
1.5	0.832	0.861	0.879	0.884
2.0	0.671	0.692	0.704	0.707
2.5	0.557	0.574	0.583	0.584
3.0	0.474	0.488	0.496	0.496
4.0	0.364	0.374	0.379	0.380
5.0	0.294	0.302	0.306	0.307
6.0	0.247	0.253	0.257	0.257
7.0	0.212	0.218	0.221	0.221
8.0	0.186	0.191	0.194	0.194
9.0	0.166	0.170	0.172	0.172
-		·		• •

14

Maximum Deflection Factors for Single Wheels

1

Aber

1.15

Table	9
-------	---

. i

. . .

ι.

Der	oth	10	Dep	th	119
radii	<u>in.</u>	e_	radii	in.	Fe
0.0 0.1 0.2 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0	0.00 0.69 1.38 3.46 6.91 10.37 13.82	1.680 1.646 1.602 1.425 1.106 0.861 0.692	3.0 4.0 5.0 6.0 7.0 8.0 9.0	20.73 27.64 34.55 41.46 48.37 55.28 62.19	0.488 0.374 0.302 0.253 0.218 0.191 0.170

Maximum Deflection Factors for Single Wheel; v = 0.4

Ta'	ble	10

Deflection Factors Beneath One Tire for Multiple Wheels

ġ

in an

Depth		Single-Wheel Deflection Factors, Fe		Multiple-Wheel Deflection Factors FM	
		0.0-radii	3.76-radii	0.0-radii	
radii (1)	in. (2)	offset (3)	offset (4)	offset (5) = (3) + (4)	
0.0	0.00	1.680	0.229	1,909	
0.1	0.69	1.646	0.229	1.875	
0.2	1.38	1,602	0.229	1,831	
0.5	3.46	1.425	0.231	1.656	
1.0	6.91	1.106	0.233	1.339	
1.5	10.37	0.861	0.238	1,099	
2.0	13.82	0.692	0.239	0.931	
3.0	20.73	0.488	0.234	0.722	
4.0	07.64	0.374	0.221	0.595	
5.0	34.55	0.302	0,205	0.507	
6.0	41.46	0.253	0.189	0.442	
7.0	48.37	0.218	0.173	0.391	
8.0	55.28	0.191	0.159	0.350	
9.0	62.19	0.170	0.146	0.316	

- A Lossife

		Deflect:	on Factors
		Single Wheel, F	Multiple Wheel, F
Depth		1.88-radii	Center of
radii <u>(1)</u>	in. (2)	offset (3)	assembly $(4) = 2 \times (3)$
0.0	0.00	0.510	1.020
0.1	0.69	0.509	1,018
0.2	1.38	0.507	1.014
0.5	3.46	0,505	1.010
1.0	6.91	0.496	0.992
1.5	10.37	0.472	0.944
2.0	13.82	0.441	0.882
3.0	20.73	0.373	0.746
4.0	27.64	0.315	0.630
5.0	34.55	0.268	0.536
6.0	41.46	0.232	0.464
7.0	48.37	0.204	0.408
8.0	55.28	0.181	0.362
9.0	62.19	0.163	0.326

and the second prove of the second

100 4 54

Multiple-Wheel Deflection Factors Under Center of Gravity

Table 11

والمعاملة ومنافقة والمعاملة والمراجع

L. Contraction

いための

÷.,

Y. Shit
j

à

ESWL Calculations

45°

ESWL, P percent assembly load (7) = [(6) ÷ 2 × (5)] × 100	56.8 56.9 56.9 56.9 56.9 56.9 56.9 56.9 56.9
$(6) = (5) \times (4)$	25,232 25,238 26,234 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,236 26,237 26,236 26,237 26
Load per Per P Ib (5)	13,500
E S N	1.136 1.139 1.143 1.143 1.162 1.211 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.351 1.918
Single- Wheel Deflection Factor F (3)	1.680 1.646 1.646 1.646 1.106 0.861 0.861 0.861 0.374 0.374 0.374 0.218 0.218 0.170
Maximum Deflection Factors for Wheels FM (2)	1.909 1.875 1.875 1.875 1.831 0.935 0.935 0.935 0.464 0.464 0.464 0.362 0.362 0.362
Depth in.	0.01 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03

وم المطلح فيود الدور

Tab	le	13

1

Z	<u>f(z)</u>	$x = \sigma_x z$ in.	$\frac{f(x) = \frac{1}{\sigma_x} f(z)}{\sigma_x}$
0.00	0.3989	0.0	0.0131
0.20	0.3910	6.1	0.0128
0.50	0.3521	15.2	0.0116
1.00	0.2420	30.4	0.0080
1.50	0.1295	45.6	0.0042
2.00	0.0540	60.9	0.0018

Ordinates of GND Curve

LUDTE T	T	' a b	le	1	4
---------	---	--------------	----	---	---

Maximum Deflection Factors for Single Wheel; v = 0.5

Depth			Dep	Depth			
radii	in.	<u>e</u>	radii	in.	<u></u>		
0.0 0.1 0.2 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0	0.00 0.81 1.63 4.07 8.14 12.21 16.28	1.500 1.493 1.471 1.342 1.061 0.832 0.671	3.0 4.0 5.0 6.0 7.0 8.0 9.0	24.42 32.56 40.70 48.84 56.98 65.12 73.26	0.474 0.364 0.294 0.247 0.212 0.186 0.166		

4 1. 1. 3. 1. and the set of the set

الأريان

Dej	oth	cated (otion Fac Offset fo	or Single	Multiple-Wheel			
<u>radii</u>	_in,_	0.00 radii	3.99 <u>radii</u>	5.90 <u>radii</u>	7.12 radii	Deflection Factors Below One Wheel (Point 1)		
0.0	0.00	1.500	0.190	0.128	0.105	1.923		
0.1	0.81	1,493	0.190	0.128	0.105	1,916		
0.2	1.63	1.471	0.190	0.128	0.105	1.894		
0,5	4.07	1.342	0.192	0.129	0.106	1.769		
1.0	8.14	1.061	0,195	0.130	0.107	1.493		
1.5	12.21	0.832	0.200	0.132	0.108	1,272		
2.0	16.28	0.671	0.204	0.134	0.109	1,118		
3.0	24.42	0.474	0.206	0.138	0.112	0.930		
4.0	32.56	0.364	0.199	0.139	0.114	0.816		
5.0	40.70	0.294	0.188	0.137	0.115	0.734		
6.0	48.84	0.247	0.175	0.135	0.114	0.671		
7.0	56.98	0.212	0.162	0.130	0.112	0.616		
8.0	65.12	0.186	0.150	0.124	0.109	0,569		
9.0	73.26	0.166	0.139	0.118	0.106	0,529		

• • • • • • • • • •

Deflection Factors Beneath One Wheel for Twin-Tandem Gear

Table 15

.....

1 fi

ii.

を見たい

.....

Deflection Factors at Centroid of Assembly for Twin-Tandem Gear

D. Radii	epth in.	Single-Wheel Deflection Factors at 3.56-Radii Offset	Multiple-Wheel Deflection Factors at Centroid of Assembly (Point 2 of Figure 22)
0.0 0.1 0.5 1.0 5.0 4.0 5.0 7.0 8.0 9.0	0.00 0.81 1.63 4.07 8.14 12.21 16.28 24.42 32.56 40.70 48.84 56.98 65.12 73.26	0.218 0.218 0.218 0.220 0.225 0.232 0.235 0.231 0.219 0.203 0.186 0.170 0.156 0.143	0.872 0.872 0.872 0.880 0.900 0.928 0.940 0.924 0.876 0.812 0.744 0.680 0.624 0.572

and a gala could hill the

De	pth	Sing: Factor	le-Wheel rs at Ind	Deflect licated	Multiple-Wheel	
radii	in.	1.72 radii	2.58 radii	5.28 radii	5.61 radii	Deflection Factors at Point 3
0.12500000000000000000000000000000000000	0.00 0.81 1.63 4.07 8.14 12.21 16.28 24.42 32.56 40.70 48.84 56.98 65.12 73.26	0.547 0.545 0.544 0.537 0.485 0.447 0.371 0.264 0.228 0.200 0.177 0.159	0.310 0.310 0.311 0.328 0.328 0.327 0.326 0.256 0.256 0.210 0.188 0.169 0.153	0.143 0.144 0.144 0.146 0.146 0.146 0.155 0.155 0.155 0.155 0.140 0.132 0.125	0.135 0.136 0.136 0.137 0.139 0.142 0.142 0.146 0.147 0.144 0.140 0.135 0.128 0.121	1.135 1.135 1.135 1.134 1.128 1.104 1.067 0.973 0.880 0.796 0.725 0.663 0.606 0.558

د. مربع المحققين من العربي من العربي الم

÷.,

(0)

新校市時代。11月

in alland

Deflection Factors at Intermediate Point for Twin-Tandem Gear

Table 17

.....

Calculation of ESWL as a Percent of the Assembly Load

ir br

ļ	SWL	percent	gear load	32.1	32.1	32.2	33.0	35.2	3 8. 2	1.14	51.7	60.5	69.1	75.3	80.2	83.9	86.2	
i	<u>к</u>		q	46,152	46,188	46,368	47_448	50,652	55 ,0 44	60,08µ	74, 448	87 , 048	99 , 432	108,432	115,488	120,780	124,056	
	One Wheel of	Gear	Ib	36,000	-				-								•	
Ratio of	Miltiple-Wheel	to Single-Wheel	Deflection Factors	1.282	1.283	1.288	1.318	T.407	1.529	1.669	2.068	2 . 418	2.762	3.012	3.208	3.355	3.446	
		Single-Wheel	Deflection Factor	1.500	1.493	1.471	1.342	1.061	0.832	0.671	0.474	0.36 ^µ	462.0	0.247	0.212	0.186	0.166	
	Max 1 mum	Multiple-Wheel	Deflection Factor	1.923	1.916	1.894	1.769	1.493	1.272	1.120	0-980	0.880	0.812	0.744	0.680	0.624	0.572	
		Depth	in.	0.00	0.81	1.63	10.4	8.14	12.21	I6.28	24-42	32.56	40.70	48.84	56.98	65.12	73.26	

: 1

in i

计称:

6

Assumed Thickness in. (t _{10,000})	Load Repetition Factor (a)	Standard Thickness in. (T)		CBR Pe	ESWL 15	p _e	CBR
3 50 150 250 250 300 500 500	0.798	3.79 6.32 12.64 18.96 25.28 31.61 37.93 50.57 63.21 75.85	0.263 0.438 0.877 1.315 1.753 2.192 2.630 3.507 4.383 5.260	0.416 0.259 0.113 0.061 0.0361 0.024 0.0171 0.0098 0.0063 0.0044	46,368 47,808 52,128 58,176 65,952 74,86 83,232 98,496 110,592 117,648	222.92 229.85 250.62 279.69 317.08 360.00 400.15 473.54 531.69 565.62	92.73 59.53 28.32 17.06 11.45 8.64 4.66 3.35 2.49

Thickness/CBR Requirements for 10,000 Passes

Contraction and the second

Table 20

Thickness/CBR Requirements for 50,000 Passes

Assumed Thickness in. (t _{50,000})	Load Repetition Factor (a)	Standard Thickness in. (T)	$\sqrt{\frac{T}{\Lambda_c}}$	<u>CBR</u> Pe	ESWL 10	P_e	CBR
3	0.87	3.44	0.239	0.441	46,368	222.92	98.30
5		5.75	0.399	0.283	47,808	229.85	65.04
10		11.49	0.797	0.129	52,128	250.62	32.33
15		17.24	1.196	0.0722	58,176	279.69	20.19
20		22.99	1.594	0.043	65,952	317.08	13.63
25		28.74	1.993	0.0285	74,880	360.00	10.26
30		34.48	2.391	0.0204	83,232	400.15	8.16
40		45.98	3.188	0.0118	98,496	473.54	5.56
50		57.47	3.985	0.0076	110,592	531.69	4.05
60		68.97	4.783	0.0053	117,648	565.62	3.00
70		80.46	5.580	0.0040	122,976	591.23	2.36

and the second second

and the second second

Assumed Thickness in. (t _{100,000})	Load Repetition Factor (a)	Stand ard Thickness in. (T)		CBR Pe	ESWL lb	e	CBR
3 50 19 29 30 50 70 70 70 70	0.90	3.33 5.56 11.11 16.66 22.22 27.78 33.33 44.44 55.56 66.67 77.78	0.231 0.385 0.771 1.156 1.541 1.926 2.312 3.082 3.853 4.623 5.394	0.445 0.290 0.135 0.0455 0.0304 0.0219 0.0126 0.0082 0.0082 0.0057 0.0042	46,368 47,808 52,128 58,176 65,952 74,880 83,232 98,496 110,592 117,648 122,976	222.92 229.85 250.62 279.69 317.08 360.00 400.15 473.54 531.69 565.62 591.23	99.2 66.66 33.83 21.26 14.43 10.94 8.76 5.97 4.33 3.22 2.50

والمتحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ

· (*)

5.

Contraction of the second states of the second stat

Thickness/CBR Requirements for 100,000 Passes

ł

APPENDIX A: COMPUTER DETERMINATION OF CBR/THICKNESS REQUIREMENTS

The procedure for calculating CBR/thickness design curves has been computerized with the exception of the pass-per-coverage ratios. This appendix presents an input guide, an input file, a problem output, and a program listing for this procedure. The problem output is for the C-141A aircraft as presented in the example in Part V of the main text. The basic data for the problem are:

Aircraft gross weight	=	320,000 1Ъ
Tire contact area	*	208 sq in.
Tire pressure	*	173 psi
Number of wheels under consideration	=	4
Tire spacing	=	32.5 in. by 48 in. (Figure A1)

Other required data are:

- Pass levels = 1-7 pass levels as selected. Three pass levels of 10,000, 50,000, and 100,000 were selected for this example.
- Alpha values = 1-7 alpha values corresponding to the selected pass levels are obtained from Figure 14 of the main text. Alpha values for this example are 0.798, 0.87, and 0.90.
 - Radii = The radius of the tire contact area, assuming the area to be a circle. For this example, $r = \sqrt{\frac{A_c}{\pi}} = \sqrt{\frac{208}{3.14}} = 8.13$ in.

Grid location and dimensions = The grid is used in the search for the position of maximum deflection for ESWL calculations. Location of the grid may be a trial-and-error procedure for a particular gear, although, with experience, this location can be determined by good engineering judgment. The values of GX and GY represent the X-Y origin of the grid, DGX and DGY the distance between grid lines, and XK and YK the number of grid lines in each direction. The grid used in the sample problem is shown in Figure Al. Normally, the dimensions between grid lines should be in the order of 1/2 radii.

A1



前自

a. WHEEL CONFIGURATION, COORDINATES & GRID LOCATION



Figure Al. C-141A gear and grid for ESWL determinations

A2

". j

المردو فالإقهو بالأقلامين

\$ 1.40 3

กลางสุขารณ์เหม่า สิ่งได้เช่นอยู่แป

Depth for solution = Maximum of 8 and minimum of 2 depths. Input by the number of depths (ZK) and increment (DZ) between depths.

I have seen as a

Input Guide

Read Number of Wheels.

.

Line 100 NW Read in X-Coordinates. Line 110 X(i), i = 1, NWRead in Y-Coordinates. Line 120 Y(i), i = 1, NW Note: If NW > 8, then 8 coordinates are the maximum allowed on one data line. Read Grid Displacement, Increment, and Size for X Axis, then Y Axis. Line 150 GX, DGX, XK, GY, DGY, YK Read Number of Depths and Depth Increment, Line 160 ZK, DZ Read Number of Maximum Ordered Displacements per Depth. Line 170 KKZ Read Number of Sets of Pressures, Radii, and Passes. Line 180 IPR Read Equivalent Single-Wheel Radius and Pressure. Line 190 RESW, PESW Read Mumber of Pass Levels and Alpha Values. Line 200 NAL Read Passes. Line 210 NCC(i), i = 1, NALRead Alpha Values. Line 220 B(i), i = 1, NALRead Contact Area. Line 230 CAREA If another problem desired, return to first input, line 100, and repeat steps through line 230. Begin next problem with a line number greater than 230. The program has no restrictions as to

Α3

how many problems may be attempted in one run.

1nput File

LIST DFILE

1

۰.

100 4 110 0. 32.5 32.5 0. 120 0. 0. 48. 48. 150 0. 4.0625 5. 0. 6. 5. 160 8. 2. 170 2 180 1 190 8.13 173. 200 3 210 10000 50000 100000 220 0.798 0.87 0.9 230 203.

BEST AVAILABLE COPY

READY

•

đ. .

......

Program Output

PUN COTAR

GROUND FLOTATION DESIGN PROGRAM RESULTS

C-141A AIPCPAFT DESIGN NUMBER OF WHEELS (MAXIMUM 38) 4 COORDINATES OF WHEELS 1: COOPDINATES DE WHEELS 0. 0. 48.00 48.00 U.C. DE GPD.GPD INCPT (NO. OF LINS(MAX(10)) 0. 4.06 5.00 0. 6.00 5.00 0. 4.06 5.00 0. 6.00 5.00 0. 4.06 5.00 0. 6.00 5.00 0. 4.06 5.00 0. 6.00 2 NO. OF SETS OF PRESS., PAD., AND COV.TO FOLLOW 1 PEFERENCE PADIUS AND PRESSURE 8.13 173.00 PRESSURES 173.00 173.00 173.00 173.00 FADIL 8.13 8.13 8.13 8.13 PASSES. 50000 100000 10000 ALPHA VALUES MAX(7) 0,900 0.798 0,870 CONTACT APEA 208.00 ${\bf v}=0$ P D . YHCRD. DEPTH DEF. Y-CFD. XHCPD. DEPITH DEF. 145. FACTOR INT. INT, INT. INS. 185. FACTOR 1.499 Q. 0. $^{8}, 0$ 1.922 Û. Ū. 0. 4,06 1.451 ñ. ٥. 1.855 4,06 1,380 10.0 **0.** п. 1.879 0. 0. 2.0 4,06 0. 1.351 4.06 0. 1.804 1.279 0. 0. 12.0 1.770 4.0 0. μ. 4.06 ñ. 1.266 4.06 1.691 ň, 1.195 0. ΰ. ñ, 14.0 1.634 ů, 6.0 4.06 Ο. ΰ. 1.193 1.566 4.06 -1-C E.F. C BP CEP DEPTH POSSES PASSES E SHIL PASSES 11. 100000 POUNDS 10000 50000 294.33 0. 294.33 46031. 294.33 2.00 135.85 125.95 133.17 46346. 4,00 77.78 80.36 71.71 47246. 6.00 49.07 55.84 53,98 48626.

8,00

10.00

12.00

14,00

att i se trad

GROUND FLOTATION DECIGN PROGRAM RESULTS

29.01

23.20

18.99

DF

50371.

52386.

546.06.

56972.

PROBLEM

40.71

32.23

26.33

21.88

A5

42.61

33.66

27.80

23.06

Page 1 of 8

Ň

and Shines I have

PROGRAM LISTING

70321 01 02=21+77 11,186 1 MAR. 69 1000 110C 120C WES MOD 41-62-H0-144 PR00, 41-Z0+001 GROUND FLOTATION DESIGN *** BOEING AIRCRAFT TRANSPORT DIVISION, BOR 209, RENTON, WASH; DOCUMENT D6=4088TN 1380 146C NOTEL TO THE ORIGINAL BOEING PROGRAM THE PAVEMENT DESIGN Division , S&PL, Wes, has made several changes, the twickness solution was replaced with an interpolation someme, the 15åC 1610 17<u>ñ</u>C THICKNESS IS NOW DERIVED FROM CHRZP VS. T/SGR(A) CURVE, The OLD F(PERCENT DESIGN THICKNESS) HAS BEEN REPLACED 160C 190C 200C WITH AN ALPHA VALUE. THE TERM COVERAGES IS REPLACED WITH PASS [EVELS; 21 ÅČ 22 N C THIS PROGRAM 'CHANG4' IS IDENTICAL TO 'CHANG2' WITH ONE EXCEPTION, AN OPTION IS AVAILABLE TO RUN 1-7 2300 246C 2560 PASS LEVELS. 260C 270C 2800 298C NUMBER OF WHEELS 300C 32 NW 32 IN, 3100 1N, Y COORDINATE ÎN, 32 nC 33 nC X(NW) IN. 32 32 IN. ÎN, RADINWS RADIUS 32 RAUZINWY RADIUS SQUARED IN. 34ñC 350C 360C PRESSURE PSI, 32 PRINW DELTA X Delta y X COORD OF GRID(DISPLC) Y COORD OF GRID(DISPLC) GX. DGX GX DOY 3780 3860 XKEKX NUMBER GRID LINKS (SIZE) NUMBER GRID LINKS (SIZH NUMBER OF DEPTHS 39ñč YK=KY ZKeKZ 10+ 4000 PHI ANGLE USED IN INTEGRATION 4100 CUSINE OF PHI 4200 10. CS SO OF SINE OF PHI J.K) DISPLACEMENT NUMBER OF MAX, ORDERED CISPLACEMENTS/DEPTH 4360 10. SN2 S(LiJ.K) 4400 17,10,8 4580 KKZ. 46nc **T**PR NUMBER SETS OF PRESS. , RADII + COVERAGES /PROH 1TH COVERAGE VALUE DEPTH OF ITH HUEL 470C 486C 496C 5 ¢ 8 Z 72 Z(1) SOUARED 8 500C 510C RUNNING TIME (MINUTES) = NH + KX + KY + KZ / 80 52ñĈ COMMON x(32),y(32),RAD(32),RAD2(32),PR(32) COMMON xG(10),yG(10),S(10,10,8) 53h 540 COMMON Z(8); Z, (A), XLOC(8, 16), YLOC(8, 06), SD(8, 46) COMMON C(5), ESHL(8), CB2(8,7) 55ñ 56n 570 COMMON SN2(10), US(10) DIMENSION KTITLE(84) 588 59hC 60 n C X(NW), Y(NW), RAD(NW), RAD2(NW), PR(NW) 61ÅC

A6

jr.

. Uka

. . .

and the second second

.

Page 2 of 8

70327 01 02-21-77 11,186 62hC XG(XK), YG(YK), S(XK, XK2 ZK) 636C 64nC Z(ZK); Z2(ZK), XLOC(ZK, KKZ), YLOC(ZK, KKZ); \$D\$ZK, KKZ) 65hC 66nC C(5), ESWL(ZK), CBR(ZK, 5) 67 N C DIMENSION B(7), NCC(7) DIMENSION U(170), V(170), TA(8,7) DATA U/1, 33,1,,,,98,,96,,94,,92,,94,88,,86,,84,84,82,8,8,78 680 69h 7218.53.52.51.51.5.49.48.47.462.45.444.43.42.41.41.4.39. 7314.38.37.36.35.34.35.34.33.32.31.32.45.20.20.20.25.24.25.24.23.22. 7488211,21,195,191,185,181,1754,17,165,144,185,191,145,144,145,144,1951 7568.13.125.125.115.115.11.105.1.1.098..096.1094.1092.109..048. 7684:0861.0841.0821.081.0781.0761.0741.0721.071.0681.0661.0641.0621 7784:06,.059,.058,.057,.056,.055,.054,.053,.052,.051,.05,.049,.048, 7888.047,.046,.045,.044,.043,.042,.041,.041.039,.038,.037,.036.034, 7964:032+.03;.029.028.027.026.325.024.023,022.021.02.009.019. 8068.018+.017.016.015.014.018.7012.011.011.009.008.007.005. 8164:006,.0055,.005,.0045,.004,.0035,.003,.0025,.002,.00175,.0015. 8204:00125,.001,.000875,.00075,.000685..0005/ DATA V/0...048..05..055..06..061..065..07..07..07..08..085. 83A 8404.099.1.103.11.116.12.127.13.14.15.15.15.14.164.164.168.17. 8508.178.18.18.18.19.194.2.205.21.218.22.23.24.24.242.25 90841.13+1.15+1.178.1.19+1.21+1.23+1.25+1.27+1.29+1.318+1.331+1.34 916811135911.3711.38211.411.41211.4311.4511.4611.47511.49511.49511.513. 92081.53,1,55,1,57,1,59,1,612,1,637,1,65,1,676,1,71,1,73,1,76, 93081.82,1.881,1,95,1,985,2,028,8,963,2,105,2,149,2,197,2,247,2,248, 94622,358,2,42,2,486,2,557,2,63542,72,2,813,2,915,3,029,3,157,3,302, 9563,468,3,66,3,668,4,162,4,321,4,501,4,704,4,938,5,208,5,528, 96685,913,6,39,7,007,7,837,8,381,9,056,9,924,11,098,11,87,12,82, 970814,05,15.7/ 988 799 FORMAT(SOH 99hC FORMAT (// 9X, BIGD HARRY //) 10000 ************ 1010 701 070 800 FORMAT (2044) 1030 801 FORMAT (10F7.2) 1040 802 FORMAT (917) FORMAT (1H1, BH TIMING / 20H Ky, KX, KZ, M, KA, TIME 1050 805 9172 F7,2/1H1) 1060C 1070C ******* OUTPUT FORMATS 1080 900 1090 901 FORMAR (1H1) FORMAT(10X,40HGHOUND FLOTATION DESIGN PROGRAM RESULTS ///) 110 902 1110 903 FORMAT (15%, 2044, /) FURHAT (29HNUMHER OF WHERLS (MAXIMUM 32) /14) FORMAT(23HX GOORDINATES OF WHEELS/(9F8.2)) Format(23HY GOORDINATES OF WHEELS/(9F8.2)) 1120 904 1130 905

USA AWAILABLE COPY

At 19 1 1 1

<u>(</u>

Α7

```
70827 01 02+21+77
                                 11,186
1140 906
                 FORMAT( LOC, OF GRD/GRD INCRT ,NO, OF LINS(NAX(10))
1108.7.6FB.2)
1140 907 _FORMAT('NUMBER OF DEP' (MAX 08) AND DEP' INCREMENT
11704 1/1278.2)
1180 908
                 FORMAT( DESIRED NO. OF DRD, MAX, DISPLEMTS PER
                (MAX:06)1./.18)
11404DEP+
                 FORMATCINO, OF SETS OF PRESS, , HAD, , AND COV,
1200 000
12404TO FOLLOW1, /, 18)
                 FORMAT(29HREFERENCE RADIUS AND PRESSURE/258,2)
FORMAT(9HPRESSURES/(9F8:2))
1290 910
1230 911
1240 912
                 FORMAT(SHRADI1/(9F8,2))
1240 412 FURMATCHMAD[1/(9F8.27)

1250 913 FORMAT(6HPASSES/(5110))

1240 914 FORMAT(4X,'DEFTH',4X,'DEF,',4X,'X=CRD,',3X,'Y=CRD,',

127044X,'DEPTH',4X,'DEF',',4X,'X=GRD,',3X,'Y=CRD,',3X,'Y=CRD,',

124045X,'INS,',3X,'FACTOR',4X,'INS,',5X,'INS,',

1260665X,'INS,',3X,'FACTOR',4X,'INS,',5X,'INS,',

1260665X,'INS,',3X,'FACTOR',4X,'INS,',5X,'INS,',
1300 915 FORMAT(F9,1,F9,3,F9,2,F9,2,F9,1,F9,3,F9,2,F9,2/
13108(F18,3,F9,2,F9,7,F18,3,F9,2,F9,7)
1360 916 FDRHAT(F9,1,F9,3,F9,2+F4,2/(F18,3)F9,2)F9,2))
1380 917 FORMAT (15X,3HCBR,7X,3HCBR,7X,3HCBR,7X,3HCBR,7X,3HCBR,
134087X,3H-T+,4X,4HESHL,5X,6HPASSES,4X,6HPASSES,4X,6HPASSES,4X,
139086HPASSES,4X,6HPASSES,5X,5HDEPTH,7,3X,6HPOUNDS7110;110+110,
13404110,110,6x,3HIN.,/,(F9,0,6F10,2))
               PRINT 900
FORMAT('ADJ' THEOH, DEFLECTION ,... MAX, OFFSET
'IF7,2,6H RADII //)
1370
1380 920
1300415
1400 925
                 FORMAT(19HALPHA VALUES MAX(7),//(5F10;3))
1410 926 FORMAT(12HCONTACT AREA, /F10, 2)
1450 927 FORMAT(15X, 3HCBR, 7X, 3H-T-, /, 4X, 4HESWL, 5X, 6HPAESEST5X, 5HDEPTH,
14304/, 3X, 6HPOUNDS, 110, 6X, 3HIN, /, (F9, 0, 2F10, 2))
                 FORMAT(15X, 3HCHR, 7X, 3HCHR, 7X, 3H-T-, /, 4X, 4HE9HL, 5X56HPASSES,
1440 928
145044X, 6HPASSES, 5X, 5HDEPTH, /, 3X, 6HPOUNDS, 2110, 6X, 3HIN, /, (F9,0,3F10,2/)
1460 929 FORMAT(15X, 3HCBR, 7X, 3HCBR, 7X, 3HCBF, 7X, 3H-T-1/, 4X, 4HESML, 5X, 6H
14704PASSES, 4X, 6HPASSES, 4X, 6HPASSE3, 5X, 3HDEPTH, /3X, 6HPOUNDS, 3110, 6X, 3HIN, ,
14404/ (F9:044F10.2))
15108/13X, AHPOUNDS, 4110, 6X, 3HIN, . /. (F9, n, 5F16, 2))
150 940 FORMAT(V)
1500 CALL ATTAC
            CALL ATTACH(1, "ROSE4/DE1LE(", 3, 0, , )
DO CONTINUE
1540 5000
                PRINTOOL
1550
                HEAD CURRENT TITLE CARD READ 799
1540C
1570
1580
              READ(1,940)LINEND,NW
              1 (NW.GT.7) GO TU 694
READ(1.940)LINEND.(X(1)41=1.NW)
1500
16n0
1610
               GO TO 692
1670 691 CONTINUE
              READ(1,940)LINENO,(X(1),1=1,8)
1630
1640
               IF (NW.LT.9)G0 TO 350
               READ(1,940)LINENO,(X(1)+1=9,16)
1650
```

A8

20,2

ينين. من من يونيوني من من من من من من

Page 4 of 8

}

اغ الريمينين (مولا الراسي

ţ,

70327 01 02-21-77 11.186 1660 IF (NW.L.T.17)G0 TO 390 1670 1680 READ(1,940)LINENO, (X(1),1=17,24) IF (NW.LT. 25) GO TO 350 1690 READ(1,940) [INF/10, (X(1),1=25,32) 1700 692 RFAD(1,940) LINENO, (Y(1),1=1,NW) 1710 GO TO 355 1700 350 READ(1,940)LINENO, (Y(1),1=1,8) IF (NW, LT, 9)00 TO 355 READ(1, 940)LINENO, (Y(1), 1=9, 16) 1730 IF (NW. LT. 17) GO TO 355 1750 1760 READ(1,940)LINENO,(Y(1)+1+17,24) 1770 IF (NW.LT. 25) GO TO 395 1780 1790 355 READ(1,940)LINENO, (Y(1)+1=25+32) CONTINUE READ IN GRID DISPLACEMENT, NOREMENT AND SIZE FOR X AND Y-AXIS READ(1,940)LINENO.GX, DGX, XR, GY, DGY, YK 18800 1810 1890 KX=XK 1830 KY=YK READ NUMBER OF DEPTHS AND DEPTH INCREMENT READ(1:940)LINEN0,2KiD2 18400 1850 KZ=ZK 1840 1870 Hað 1880 KAEKYOKXOKZONW 1890 TIME=KA/450.0 19000 ******** NUMBER OF MAXIMUM ORDERED DISPLACEMENTS PER DEPTH REQUIRED READ(1.940)LINEND, KKZ 1920 1930 READ(1,940)LINENO, IPR 19400 1950 004500;PRS=1.;PR READ EQUIV, SINGLE WHEEL RADIUS AND PHESS FACTOR IS IN RADII 19400 19700 '_ FACION / RADL 1980 READ(1,940)LINENO, RESWIPESH 1900 RESWARESWARESH 10 366 1=1,NW 2000 PH(1) = PESW 2010 2020 300 RAD(1)=RESW 2030 IF(IPRS.NE.1) GO TO 739 2040C READ NO. OF PASS LEVELS, 2050 READ(1:940)LINENG, MAL 2040C READ PASSES. 2070 READ(1.94 READ(1,940)LINEND, (NCC(1)/I=1,NAL) 20ADC READ ALPHA'S. 2040 READ(1,940)LINENO, (B(1),191,NAL) 2100C READ CONTACT AREA. 2190 READ(1,940)LINENO, CAREA 2190 739 2130 CONTINUE PRINT963, NW 2140 PRINT904.(X(I).IW1.NW) PRINT9US/(Y(1)+1=1+NW) 2150 PRINT906, GX, DGX, XK, GY, DGY, YK 2140 2170 PRINT907, ZK, FZ

1. 1967

Page 5 of 8

Simon-

OBS S R T L. S

70327 01 02421-77 11,186 PRINT908.KKZ 2180 2190 PRINT909, IPR PRINT910, RESW, PESW 2200 PRINT910, RESW, PESM PRINT911, (PR(I), I=1, NW) PRINT 913, (HAD(I), I=1, NW) PRINT 913, (NCC(I), I=1, NAL) PRINT 925, (B(I), I=1, NAL) 2210 2220 2240 2250 2260 DPERS, 0/(2, 0+P1+RESW+PESW) SET-UP OF GRID DEPTHS 2270 22A0C 2(1)=0.0 2200 2310 22(1)=0.0 2310c n0251#2+KZ 7(1)=2(1=1)+DZ 2320 2330 22(1)=2(1)+2(1) CONTINUE 2340 2350 25 2340C 2370C P1/40 = 078539816339744930 P1/20 = 157079632679489661 23800 23900 24000 PHINO.0785398163 SET-UP SIN(PHI)SQ AND GO3(PHI) 2400 24300 P0271#1+10 PH1=PH1+PID 2440 2450 SINE SIN(PHI) 2470 SN2(1)=SINE+SINE GSCI)=COS(PHI) CONTINUE 2480 2490 27 SET-UP RADII SQUARED 25000 00281=1,NW 2511 2520 28 2530c RADP(1)=RAD(1)+RAD(1) SET-UP X-COORDS FOR GRID XG(1)=GX DOMO[=2,KX XG(1)=XG(1=1)+DGX SEY-UP Y-COOPDS FOR GRID 2540 2550 25ÃO 40 2570C 2540 YBC11+GY DO#21=2,KY 2590 2600 42 Y0(1)=Y0(1+1)+D0Y 2610C 2620C DOBOTELIKY 2630 Y1=YA(1) D078J=1/KX 2640 2650 2660 XJ#XG(J) D076K=1,KZ Z2K=72(K) 2680 SSP0.0 2691

1.0

1

1

A10

and the second second

. . .

1

Page 6 of 8

```
70327 01 02-21-77
                        11.186
2700
           0074L=1+NW
           RAD2L #RAD2(L)
2720
           RADL=RAD(L)
           PRL=PH(L)
SJIK=0,0
2730
2740
2750
           XLG=X(L)=XJ
2740
            R2#XLG#XLG
2770
            YE6=Y(L)=Y1
2780
            R2#YI.G+YLG+R2
           RESORT (R2)
2790
            1F(R-RADL)68,68,72
28.0.0
26100
           SUM DISPLACEMENT DUE TO ONE WHEEL RAD, GREATER THEN R
D071M=1,10
Sar=Sght(RaD2L=R2+SN2(H))
28282
2830 68
2840
2850
            RCAR+CS(M)
           FRP=RC+SAR
284 ñ
2870
            ERP2=ERP+ERP
           ÈRM#SĂR=RĈ
ERM2#ERM+ERM
2880
2890
             SJIK_SJIK+(ERP2/SORT(ERP2+Z2K)+ERM2/SQHT(ERM2+Z2K))+PID
2900 71
2910
2920C
2930C
           G0T0120
            SUM DISPLACEMENT DUE TO ONE WHELL RAD, LESS THAN R
             DD73M+1-10
2940 72
2950
            SAR BORT (R2-RAD2L+SN2(4))
            ACARADL+CS(M)
2960
2970
            SPA=AC+SAR
            SPA2=SPA+SPA
29 HO
            SSA=SAR=AC
2900
3010 73
            SSX2=SSA+SSA
             SJIK=SJIK+AU/SAH+(SPA3/30HT1SPAR+22K)=SSA2/SORT(SSA2+22K))=P10
30200
             SJ1K=SJ1K+PRL
3030 120
3040 502
             SS_SS+SJ1K
3050 503
             CONTINUE
3040 74
             CONTINUE
3070
            S(J, T,K)=SS
30A0 76
3090 78
             CONTINUE
             CONTINUE
             CONTINUE
3100 80
31100
            .....
3120C
3130C
            D022212=1.KZ
3140
            00222L#1.KK7
3150
3140
            EMAXHOLO
317nC
3140
            D02201x=1.KX
3190
            D02201Y=1,KY
            IF(S(1x,1Y,1Z)=EMAX)220,220,210
EMAX=S(1X,1Y,1Z)
3200
3210 210
```

A11

ны У баго تنقينا أسرعان

Page 7 of 8

r,

.

.

1

wills

.

```
70321 01 02+21+77
                          11,184
3220
             TXM=IX
3230
             TYMETY
3240
            XLOC(12,L)=XG(1X)
             YLOC(12,L)=YG(1Y)
3250
             9D 17.L) #S(1X.1Y.12)
CONTINUE
3240
3270 220
             S(1XM, 1YM, 12)=0.0
3280
3290 222
              CONTINUE
3310C
3310C
            CALCULATE EQUIV. SINGLE WHEEL LOAD
3320
             D02501=1,KZ
3330 250
             ESWL(1)=SD(1,1)+SURT(RESW2+Z2(1))
33,0
3350
            SRAREA=SORT (CAREA)
            00 270 I=1 NAL
3340
             KS∎2
            00 245 J=1,K7
TA(J,1)=7(J)/R(1)
3370
3340
            V1 474(J,1)/SRAAEA
15(V1.NE.0.) GU TO 1509
3390
3400
3410
            CBR(U,1)=U(1)+(ESWL(U)/CAREA)
            GO TO 267
CONTINUE
3470 3470 1500
            DO 266 KEKS/170
IFLV(K), GT.V1, GO TO 1492
3440
3490
             CONTINUE
3460 206
3470 PRINT 1480
3480 1480 FORMATISX, 10000 THICKNESS VALUE CONSIDERED EXCHEDS LIM
34908175 OF BURVE ++++++
351n 1490
             UL=ALUG10(U(K=1))=((V1=V(K=i))*(ALOG10(U(K=1))=ALOG10(U(K)
35708)))/(V(R)=V(R=1))
353n
3540
            U1#10 #+UL
            CBR(J, I)=U1=(ESWL(J)/CAREA)
3551
            KS#K
3540 267
3570 265
3580 270
             CONTINUE
             CONTINUE
             CONTINUE
3500C
3640
            0033n12=1;KZ
            D0338L=1.KKZ
36jn
             SD(1Z,L)=SD(1Z,L)=DPE
3690 330
3630C
3640C
3650C
            ***********
                                 PRINT PAGE 2
3640
            PRINT900
            PRINT 914
3670
            KZ2=K2/2
KZOVR2=K72
3680
3691
            1FtK7-KZ2-KZ7)586,585,586
3700
3710 585
            IEVEN+1
GOT0587
3790
37300
```

A12

ा । त and the state of the

11.186 02-21-77 7032T 01 KZOVR2=KZOVR2+1 3740 586 IEVEN=2 PRINT900 D06201=1.KZOVH2 3750 3760 3770 587 IK=KZOVR? PRINT915, (Z(K), SD(K, 1), XLOC(K, 1), YLOC(K, 1), K=I, L, KZOVR2), K, J), XLOC(K, J), YLOC(K, J), K=Y, L, KZ, VP2), J=2, KKZ) 1F(1 KZOVR2)600,590,590 3780 LEIK+I 3830 600 PRINT915,(Z(K),SD(K,1),YLOC(K,1),YLOC(K,1),K=[38408((SD(K,J),XLOC(K,J),YLOC(K,J),K=[,L,KZ)VR2],J=2,KKZ) 38408((SD(K,J),XLOC(K,J),YLOC(K,J),K=[,L,KZ)VR2],J=2,KKZ) GOTO(609.610), IEVEN 3790 3800 3810 590 PRINT916.Z(IK).(SD(IKiJ).XLOC(IK,J).YLOC(IK,J).J=1.KKZ) 3820C 3830 600 3851 PRINT900 1FENAL.ED.1) PRINT 927. (NCU(1). [#1.NAL), (ESWL(1). (CBR(1.J), NAL) 7.11 38ADC 3870 610 3880 620 NAL1;7(1);1=1;K2) 1FtNAL.EQ.2) PRINT 928+(NCC(1);1=1;NAL);(ESWL(1)*(GBR(1*J); NAL1-7(1);T=1;K4) NAL1-7(1);T=1;K4) 38900 NAL1+7(1),1=1+KY) 1F(NAL.FO.3), PRINT 929, (NCC(1),1=1+NAL), (ESWL(1)+(CBR(1+J)+ NAL1+7(1)+T=1-K/) 3900C 39308 JE1 , NAL) , 7 (1) , 1=1 , KZ) 3910 39AN IF (NAL.FU.3), PHINI 929, (VUU(I),)=V, NAL), (ESWL(I), (EBR(I+V), 39708J=1, NAL), 7(I), I=1, KZ) 398N 398N 398N 398N 398N 398N 3920 39508J=1+NAL) .7(1), 1=1.K7) UNU65', 2(1);1=1,K7) 4040 40504=1,5), 2(1),1=1,K2) 40504=1,5), 2(1),1=1,K2) 4060 4060 PRINT 900 IF(NAL.EQ.6) PRINT 927.(NCC(1), 1=6, NAL), (ESHL(1))(CBR(1+J)) NAL 1.7/1) 1-1 471 403085),Z(1);1=1.KZ) 4040 IF(NAL+E0. 4070 4070 40808J[±]6,NAL1,7(1),131,KZ) 4090 4090 41008J[±]6;NAL1,7(1),131,KZ) 41008J[±]6;NAL1,7(1),131,KZ) 41008J[±]6;NAL1,7(1),131,KZ) 41008J[±]6;NAL1,7(1),131,KZ) 4060 PRINT 900 4190 CONTINUE 4130 4500 4120 GO TO 5000. 4140 END

Tage 8 of 8

:

4150

1

į

Best Available Copy

.

In accordance with ER 70-2-3, paragraph 6c(1)(b), dated 15 February 1973, a facsimile catalog card in Library of Congress format is reproduced below.

Taboza Pereira, A Procedures for development of CBR design curves, by A. Taboza Pereira. Vicksburg, U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, 1977. 1 v. (various pagings) illus. 27 cm. (U. S. Waterways Experiment Station. Instruction report S-77-1) Prepared for Office, Chief of Engineers, U. S. Army, Washington, D. C., under Project 4A762719AT40, Task A2, Work Unit 001. Supersedes WES Instruction Report 4, dated Nov. 1959. Includes bibliography. 1. California Bearing Ratio. ?. Flexible pavements. 3. Pavement design. 4. Pavements. I. U. S. Army. Corps of Engineers. (Series: U. S. Waterways Fxperiment Station, Vicksburg, Miss. Instruction report S-77-1) TA7.W34i no.S-77-1

.

Best Available Copy

e s

.